NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.

UMI[®]

 Retailer Compliance with Youth Access Statutes and Regulatory Policies for Lottery Products

and Alcohol: Evaluating the Role of Gender and Vendor Age

Renee St-Pierre, B. A.

Department of Educational & Counselling Psychology

McGill University, Montreal

May, 2008

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Arts in Educational Psychology, Major in School/Applied Child Psychology

©Renee St-Pierre 2008



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-67003-3 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-67003-3

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ABSTRACT

Despite the implementation of legal prohibitions and regulatory policies to limit the commercial availability of lottery products to minors, published research continues to document a high prevalence of participation in and ease of access to lottery playing amongst adolescents. This study systematically investigated the influence of individual-level factors in vendor compliance with youth access statutes and policies for lottery and alcohol products. Six underage youths each attempted to purchase a lottery ticket, a beer, or both products together in the same 313 convenience stores, for a total of 1,219 purchase attempts. The results revealed that only a moderate proportion of vendors surveyed in this study were compliant with existing statutes and policies, and that gender and vendor age variables play a significant role in youth purchasing of lottery tickets and alcohol. These findings were interpreted in terms of their implications for strengthening regulatory policies and future research.

RÉSUMÉ

Malgré l'adoption de lois visant la limitation d'accès des jeunes mineurs aux produits de loterie, des résultats de recherche montrent une prévalence élevée d'achat de billets de loterie par les mineurs et leur accès relativement facile à ce type de produit. Cette étude examine le lien entre diverses caractéristiques individuelles des acheteurs et des vendeurs et le respect de l'application des lois visant la limitation d'accès des mineurs. Six jeunes mineurs ont tenté d'acheter soit un billet de loterie, soit une bière grand format, ou les deux produits à la fois dans 313 points de vente (dépanneurs) montréalais. Au total, 1 219 tentatives d'achat ont été effectuées. Les résultats montrent qu'un peu plus de la moitié des vendeurs se conformait aux lois et règles en vigueur. De plus, il appert que le sexe et l'âge des vendeurs jouent un rôle important dans la décision de vendre ou non les produits demandés par les acheteurs mineurs. Les résultats ont été interprétés en termes de leur implication dans le développent de stratégies pour limiter l'accès des mineurs aux produits de loterie et aux produits alcoolisés et de nouvelles pistes de recherche sont suggérées.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my utmost appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Jeffrey Derevensky for his exceptional supervision and continued support throughout this research project. I am grateful to him for providing direction and urging me to strive for excellence over the course of my graduate studies.

I would also like to express a tremendous thanks to the Drs. Isabelle Martin and Rina Gupta, Ms. Amy Taylor, Ms. Sheri Stock, and Ms. Kelly Walsh for providing invaluable help with questionnaire design, data collection, and data entry. Several warm thanks go out to all the staff and students of McGill University's International Centre for Youth Gambling Problems and High-Risk Behaviors for their enthusiasm, positive spirit, and support, making the lab a fantastic work environment.

I am deeply thankful to Drs. Carl Frederiksen and Jose Correa for their invaluable statistical consultation. Their guidance will forever be remembered. I would equally like to send my love and appreciation to my family, particularly my father and grandmother, for their unconditional love, encouragement, and support. I give thanks to them for seeing me through getting this degree.

Lastly, I am forever grateful to my wonderful fiancé Roberto. You have believed in me and the path that I have been following, and without your continued love and encouragement, the completion of this thesis would not have been possible.

This study is part of a larger research project supported by a grant awarded to Drs. Martin, Derevensky, Gupta, and myself from the Fonds québécois de la recherche sur la société et la culture (FQRSC).

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
RÉSUMÉiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
LIST OF TABLESviii
CHAPTER I1
Introduction1
CHAPTER II
Review of Literature
Youth Gambling Participation and Problem Gambling4
Lottery Participation5
Youth Access Policies for Lottery Products: Québec and Canada7
History of Gambling and Gambling Legislation in Canada
Current Legislation and Policies for Lottery Gambling: Restricting Youth Access10
Compliance with Youth Access Regulations and Policies for Lottery Gambling
Factors Associated with Illegal Sales of Restricted Products14
Situational Factors15
Purchaser Factors16
Vendor Factors17
Theoretical Models Explaining Illegal Sales of Restricted Products
Rational Choice Model18
Sociocultural Model
Decision-Heuristics Model

Research Goals and Hypotheses	21
CHAPTER III	24
Method	24
Participants	24
Purchasers and Materials	27
Purchasers	27
Purchase Attempt Survey	29
Procedure	
Data Entry	
Data Coding and Analysis	
CHAPTER IV	
Results	
Vendor Compliance with Age Identification Policies	
Product Type	
Gender	
Vendor Age Group	
Category of Store Ownership	40
Purchaser Gender and Vendor Gender	43
Purchaser Gender and Vendor Age Group	45
Vendor Gender and Vendor Age Group	46
Gender and Product Type	47
Vendor Age Group and Product Type	50
Logit-Model Analysis	51
Factors Associated with Requests for Age Identification	

Factors Associated with Purchase Outcome	53
CHAPTER V	56
Discussion	56
Vendor Compliance with Age Identification Policies	56
Vendor Compliance with Policies for Lottery vs. Alcohol Products	59
Gender and Age Differences in Vendor Compliance	61
Factors Mediating Compliance with Policies for Lottery vs. Alcohol Products	63
Implications for Prevention and Awareness Initiatives	65
Limitations and Future Directions	68
References	71
APPENDIX A: Compliance Check Survey Form	84
APPENDIX B: Ethics Certificate	89
APPENDIX C: Informed Consent Form	92
APPENDIX D: Data Coding Scheme	97

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Sample Distribution by Municipality	25
Table 2.	Sample Distribution by Banner	26
Table 3.	Sample Distribution by Product Type, Gender, and Vendor Age Group	27
Table 4.	Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification Categorized by Product Type	37
Table 5.	Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Product Type	38
Table 6.	Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification Categorized by Gender	39
Table 7.	Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome Categorized by Gender	40
Table 8.	Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome Categorized by Vendor Age Group (Estimated)	41
Table 9.	Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification Categorized by Category of Store Ownership	42
Table 10	Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome Categorized by Category of Store Ownership	42
Table 11.	Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification (ID) by Purchaser and Vendor Gender	44
Table 12	Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Purchaser and Vendor Gender	44
Table 13	Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification (ID) by Purchaser Gender and Vendor Age Group (Estimated)	45
Table 14	. Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Purchaser Gender and Vendor Age Group (Estimated)	46
Table 15	. Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification (ID) by Vendor Gender and Age Group (Estimated)	48
Table 16	. Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Vendor Gender and Age Group (Estimated)	48
Table 17	. Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Product Type and Purchaser Gender	49

Table 18.	Logit-Model Analysis Predicting Request for Age Identification	53
Table 19.	Logit-Model Analysis Predicting Sale Refusal (Purchase Outcome)	54

Retailer Compliance 1

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Today's youth are the first generation in Canadian history to have lived their entire lives in an environment where opportunities to gamble are as close at hand as the neighbourhood convenience or grocery store (Morton, 2003; Poulin, 2000). In the province of Québec alone, lottery products are sold by close to 10,000 retailers (Loto-Québec, 2007). The impact of this extensive accessibility has not gone unnoticed; beginning in the 1990's, Québec researchers uncovered that gambling constitutes a popular pastime for youth, with lottery playing ranking high amongst favourite gambling activities (Gupta & Derevensky, 1998; Ladouceur, 1996). While for many adolescents, gambling is an occasional activity with few negative consequences, there is nevertheless a small but significant percentage of youth who go on to develop a serious gambling problem. The fact that severe gambling problems frequently result in far-reaching and long-lasting negative outcomes draws attention to the importance of youth gambling prevention (Derevensky, Gupta, Dickson, & Deguire, 2004).

Restricting minor's access to lottery products, through minimum-age legislation and other regulatory policies, has been a fundamental component of youth gambling prevention initiatives. For example, in February 2000, the Québec legislature enacted a law banning the sale of lottery tickets to individuals under the age of 18 years. Loto-Québec, the provincial crown corporation mandated to operate and regulate gambling, has since implemented several policies to support the application of the law. One of the more recent policies instructs all retailers to request age identification from consumers appearing 25 years of age and younger (Loto-Québec, 2005). A number of years after the formal ratification of the law, however, close to one-third of Québec's adolescents still report having gambled on lottery products (Martin, Gupta, &

Derevensky, 2007). While not scientific, results from privately-sponsored "sting operations" also reveal that only a small minority of retailers refuse to sell lottery tickets to underage purchasers (Moore, 2000, 2001). It is therefore of great importance to identify those factors which contribute to the sustained commercial accessibility of lottery tickets to minors despite the existence of legal prohibitions.

To date, no empirically controlled study has examined the issue of retailer compliance with youth access laws or age identification policies for lottery products. The present study will investigate vendor compliance with current statutes and age identification policies for the sale of lottery products. In order to provide perspective, youth access to alcohol products (e.g., beer) and lottery products will be compared. This research will also examine the function and predictive importance of gender and apparent age in vendors' decision to comply with age identification policies. The results of this study will provide both researchers and provincial regulatory agencies with concrete information on the extent and variables influencing youth access to alcohol and lottery products from commercial sources, as well as clarify the weaknesses in the current policies which facilitate access.

Retailer Compliance 3

CHAPTER II

Review of the Literature

Gambling in Canada, as in other countries worldwide, has experienced marked changes over the last century. Beginning at the end of the First World War, gambling underwent a progressive transformation from a stigmatized criminal activity to a socially acceptable form of entertainment (Morton, 2003). Besides being viewed as an innocuous recreational activity, gambling (gaming) today is considered an important source of public revenue, a tool for stimulating economic development, a channel for the creation of stable employment opportunities, and a legitimate means for funding charitable, non-profit, and/or community service groups (Derevensky & Gillespie, 2005; Korn, 2000).

Periodic amendments to Canada's gambling statutes are largely responsible for this shift in public attitudes towards gaming. These revisions fundamentally sanctioned gambling in Canada by permitting the provincial governments to regulate and operate a range of games of chance (Campbell, Hartnagel, & Smith, 2005; Campbell & Smith, 1998, 2003). Since then, the gaming industry has undergone a rapid expansion and impressive growth; by 1992, provincial lotteries were available nationwide, six out of ten provinces offered video lottery terminals, and five offered pari-mutuel sports wagering (Yorke, 2003). No sooner than 2004, gambling in Canada represented a nearly \$13 billion a year business, with net revenues increasing by 275% from \$1.687 billion in 1992-1993 to \$6.329 billion in 2003-2004 (Azmier, 2005). By 2004, there were more than 39,000 video lottery terminals, 47,000 slot machines, and 33,000 lottery ticket outlets across Canada (Azmier, 2005). Given the substantial revenues generated by the gaming industry, new and existing forms of gambling will continue to proliferate at a staggering rate (Barmaki & Zangeneh, 2007; Derevensky et al., 2004). In view of this rapid expansion, the majority of today's youth have lived their entire lives in an environment of legalized gambling (Poulin, 2000; Shaffer, Hall, & Vander Bilt, 1999). To fulfill business objectives, gambling corporations have frequently resorted to the promotion of game offerings via the media (radio, television, print, public advertising spaces). When these activities are advertised, the excitement and entertainment aspects are often emphasized. Since youth is a developmental period associated with experimentation and sensation seeking (Korn, Gibbins, & Azmier, 2003; Spear, 2000), it is not surprising that gambling has become an appealing activity for children and adolescents as well. The end result is an increase in youth gambling involvement (Jacobs, 2000, 2004; Shaffer & Zinberg, 1994).

Youth Gambling Participation and Problem Gambling

Once considered to be an adult activity, it is now well established that, to some extent, Canadian youth actively participate in gambling. Several researchers report that a significant proportion of youth gamble, although do so occasionally and do not experience any negative consequences (Stinchfield, 2004). For example, of a representative sample of all high school students in the province of Québec, approximately 36% (170,800 students) reported having gambled at least once in the last year, and 30% (142,500 students) indicated having gambled less than once per week (Martin et al., 2007). These figures are somewhat lower than previous findings by Ladouceur and colleagues (e.g., Ladouceur, Boudreault, Jacques, & Vitaro, 1999; Ladouceur & Mireault, 1988), and Gupta and Derevensky (1997, 1998). However, recent changes in the commercial accessibility of provincially-regulated games of chance to minors may explain this discrepancy in results (Chevalier, Martin, Gupta, & Derevensky, 2005; Martin et al., 2007). While for many adolescents, gambling is an occasional recreational activity with few negative consequences, there is nevertheless a small but significant percentage of youth that experience gambling-related problems. In Canada, approximately 3-6% of adolescents meet diagnostic criteria for pathological gambling, and another 8-10% are at risk for developing severe gambling problems (Chevalier, Deguire, Gupta, & Derevensky, 2003; Chevalier et al., 2005; Poulin, 2000). A high proportion of these youth started gambling at an early age, between 10 and 12 years old (Gupta & Derevensky, 1998; Wynne, Smith, & Jacobs, 1996). There is also growing empirical evidence of significant associations between youth gambling participation and alcohol and drug use (Hardoon, Derevensky, & Gupta, 2002; Winters & Anderson, 2000), depression and anxiety (Griffiths, 1995; Gupta & Derevensky, 1998), disruption of family relationships (Derevensky & Gupta, 2004), delinquency and criminal behaviour (Blaszczynski, 1994; Wynne et al., 1996), and absenteeism or truancy (Griffiths, 1989; Jacobs, 2004). *Lottery Participation*

Adolescents who gamble often participate in an assortment of unlicensed games of chance, such as playing cards or betting on sports (Jacobs, 2004; Shaffer & Zinberg, 1994; Westphal, Rush, Stevens, & Johnson, 2000). However, there is a growing body of evidence to suggest that youth who gamble may start with provincially regulated lottery products. For example, in a study of lottery playing amongst youth, Felsher, Derevensky, and Gupta (2004) found that children and adolescents reported first playing instant lotteries at 10 years of age, and at 11 years of age for traditional lottery draws. Along the same lines, Felsher and colleagues reported that children and adolescents purchase their first instant and/or traditional lottery draw tickets at a young age, approximately 12 years old. These results are consistent with previous findings for the average age of onset of gambling involvement.

Not only are youth initiated into gambling via the lottery, empirical evidence would suggest that the lottery remains a preferred gaming activity. Chevalier et al. (2005) had grade 7 to grade 11 students identify their principal gambling venues. They found that, of a variety of unlicensed and provincially regulated games of chance, adolescents favoured instant lotteries or "scratch tickets" (26%), followed closely by playing cards for money (23%). Similarly, Poulin (2000) indicated that, for secondary school students, instant scratch tabs (56%) were played more often than cards for money (35%) or betting on sports activities (26%). Thus, it would seem that instant lotteries are particularly appealing to both novice and more experienced youth gamblers.

The appeal and preference for instant lottery tickets is likely a result of its easy accessibility (Felsher, Derevensky, & Gupta, 2003). Findings from a representative study of the gambling behaviours of Louisiana students illustrate the facility with which minors purchase instant lottery products in spite of legal prohibitions; more than half (65%) of the students surveyed indicated that they had played instant lottery tickets, a gambling activity that is agerestricted under Louisiana law (Westphal et al., 2000). More direct evidence for the relative accessibility of lottery products to minors is also available in the extant literature. In fact, a comparable percentage of Ontarian underage youth (65%) report minimal difficulties in purchasing lottery tickets from the local convenience store despite age-restrictions (Felsher et al., 2004). What's more, even though older adolescents find it less difficult to purchase lottery tickets than younger adolescents, more than half (55%) of young adolescents revealed that it is easy to acquire lottery tickets.

Parental acceptance of lottery playing may also encourage youth involvement. Côté, Vitaro, and Ladouceur (2003) conducted telephone interviews with 597 parents of children aged 5 to 17 years in 2000. They found that while most parents (99%) believe that gambling can become problematic for some people, one-third (34%) admit to having themselves purchased a lottery ticket for their child as a gift. Côté et al. also revealed that close to half (46%) of parents who reported that they gambled did so in the company of their child, with traditional lottery draws (69%) and instant lottery draws (38%) comprising their preferred gambling activities. Moreover, when queried about reasons for initiating lottery play, close to half (48%) of youth aged 10 to 18 years indicate that it is because their parents' play (Felsher et al., 2003). These results suggest that parents may be unintentionally promoting youth gambling involvement in lottery play.

It is clear then, from the research findings, that a majority of youth gamble on occasion with few negative consequences, but that a small yet significant number of youth are identified as having gambling problems. Of the adolescent's who gamble, most began by playing the lottery because it is relatively attractive and low cost. The appeal for lottery play is likely the result of its ease of access and its endorsement as a harmless form of entertainment. The problem, however, is that lottery playing may act also as a "gateway" to other types of gambling participation (Felsher et al., 2004; Shaffer & Zinberg, 1994). As a result, policy makers and regulators have enacted statutes prohibiting vendors from selling lottery tickets to minors.

Youth Access Policies for Lottery Products: Québec and Canada History of Gambling and Gambling Legislation in Canada

The popularity of games of chance in Canada is not a recent phenomenon. Ethnographic evidence reveals that First Nations populations participated in a variety of gambling activities prior to the arrival of European explorers (Salter, 1979). Some of the more prevalent games of chance included "gaming sticks" and hand-dice games (Mandal & Vander Doelen, 1999). Wagering on social activities such as lacrosse and archery was also common during that period (Thompson, 2001). Gambling within traditional Native populations, however, served a larger purpose than simply entertainment. Specifically, it functioned as a system to evenly distribute resources within communities during periods of economic stress, as well as a quasi-religious ritual to ensure the successful outcome of a ceremony (Salter, 1979; Wardman, el-Guebaly, & Hodgins, 2001).

Participation in gambling activities extended beyond tribal societies in pre-confederacy Canada. In his review of the history of gambling, Yorke (2003) indicates that the Canadian gambling experience is marked by three major periods, where gambling transitioned from a prohibited activity to a legal one. The first documented wave of regulated gambling began in the French colonial town of Louisbourg in the 1750's. At that time, several lotteries were introduced to raise capital for large economic projects (e.g., construction of canals), or to distribute lands to the population (Morton, 2003). Other forms of gambling were also prevalent in the French colonies of Canada. In fact, card games gained so much popularity during this period that sizeable shipments of card decks were imported (Yorke, 2003). This increase in gambling participation, nevertheless, led to a rise in the incidence of problem gambling and financial ruin, prompting the government to enact statutes regulating or prohibiting wagering on cards, dice, tables, and bowling, especially in public houses and taverns (Dunkley, 1985; Wamsley, 1998).

A second wave of gambling in Canada surfaced in the mid-nineteenth century, just prior to confederation in 1867. Wagering on horse races, both on and off track, gained popularity with Canada's economic elite during this period (Wamsley, 1998). Additionally, lotteries offering goods instead of cash prizes were launched and multiplied until the late 1850's (Morton, 2003). Legislation was passed shortly thereafter to prohibit draws and the sale of tickets, with the exception of lotteries exclusively for charitable purposes (Barmaki & Zangeneh, 2007). Despite this effort to limit the proliferation of raffles, ambiguities in the legislation allowed for private lotteries to continue to operate until 1892 (Brenner & Brenner, 1990). In that same year, the Criminal Code of Canada was enacted to codify existing law on crimes, and gambling provisions were incorporated in a section of the Code titled "Offences against Religion, Morals and Public Convenience" (Campbell et al., 2005). These provisions disallowed any type of gambling activity save racetrack betting. Specifically, the acts of keeping common gaming houses, gambling in public conveyances such as railway cars and steamboats, operating lotteries, and cheating at play were entered into the Code as indictable criminal offences (Campbell & Smith, 2003). The acts of being found in common gaming houses, obstructing peace officers from entering said locations, and keeping a cock-fight pits were also incorporated into the Criminal Code, but as offences punishable by way of summary conviction (Robinson, 1983).

Following its formal adoption in 1892, a few major amendments were made to the gambling provisions of the Criminal Code of Canada (Campbell et al., 2005; Campbell & Smith, 1998, 2003; Derevensky & Gillespie, 2005; Robinson, 1983). One such amendment, entered in 1900, allowed for the operation of raffles offering prizes of small value, provided that they were held at religious or charitable bazaars for the purpose of fundraising. Another exemption was introduced in 1925, authorizing the operation of games of chance during agricultural fairs and exhibitions. A third revision to the Criminal Code in 1969 granted the federal and provincial governments permission to manage and conduct provincial lottery schemes (i.e., ticket lotteries, bingo, sports betting, casino-style card games). Finally, an amendment was introduced in 1985 that provided provincial and territorial governments with exclusive authority over gambling, and legalized games of chance conducted via computer, video device, or slot machine. Taken

together, these revisions allowed for the growth and expansion of gambling, thus bringing about the third period of regulated gambling in Canada (Barmaki & Zangeneh, 2007; Yorke, 2003). *Current Legislation and Policies for Lottery Gambling: Restricting Youth Access*

Lotteries today continue to be regulated under federal law. Section 207(1) of the Criminal Code of Canada outlines the terms and conditions for creating and operating lotteries. It is under this section that permission is granted to provincial and territorial governments to "conduct and manage" lotteries in accordance with their respective legislature (Bourgeois, 1989). Provincial and territorial governments are also awarded the power to authorize, license, and control all other lotteries sanctioned in the Code (Osborne & Campbell, 1989). Simply put, Canadian federal law delegates the provinces and territories with exclusive authority over the operation and management of lotteries; it in no way dictates *how* these lotteries are to be conducted or controlled. Each provincial jurisdiction therefore retains its own statutes and policies for lottery administration and, more specifically, for restricting youth access to lottery products.

In Québec, the *Act Respecting the Société des Loteries du Québec* (1999) delineates the current provisos for the operation and management of lotteries. Although it is beyond the scope of this discussion to provide a detailed description of every provision, most germane to an understanding of Québec's statutes for restricting youth access to lottery products is Division V. Division V, commonly referred to as the "law prohibiting the sale of lottery products to minors", was first introduced in 1999 as a bill to amend pre-existing legislation. Ratification of this bill in February 2000 was likely in response to growing empirical evidence that gambling constitutes a popular pastime for youth (Gupta & Derevensky, 1998), that lottery products rank high amongst favourite gambling activities (Chevalier et al., 2005; Felsher et al., 2004), and that a small but significant proportion of youth have experienced serious gambling-related problems (Gupta &

Derevensky, 1998; Ladouceur et al., 1999; Ladouceur & Mireault, 1988). The general aim of Division V is to prohibit the sale of tickets for lottery schemes conducted and administered by *Loto-Québec* (the provincial crown corporation mandated to operate and regulate gaming activities in the region) to minors under the age of 18 years. This section also provides a list of punitive measures that may be enforced by local municipalities for violation of this prohibition. To be exact, a fine of \$300 to \$2,000 may be imposed as a penalty for a first contravention, and a fine of \$600 to \$6,000 may be allocated for subsequent contraventions. Finally, Division V presents two important stipulations regarding proof of age. Specifically, any person is liable to supply proof of age when purchasing lottery tickets, and "reasonable efforts" must be made by retailers to verify the age of ticket purchasers.

The enactment of legal prohibitions similar to Division V is necessary in the prevention of youth gambling participation; however, their effectiveness in reducing youth access to lottery products is limited (Derevensky, Gupta, Messerlian, & Gillespie, 2004). The institution of youth access policies is needed to further restrict the commercial availability of high-risk products such as lottery tickets to children and adolescents (Forster & Wolfson, 1998). In Québec, like elsewhere in Canada and the United States, youth access policies include a combination of administrative guidelines, merchant education and training programs, and tentative enforcement through compliance checks (Levy & Friend, 2000). For this reason, Loto-Québec has implemented several administrative guidelines and measures. One such measure is the *Here, we card/Ici, on carte* program (Loto-Québec, 2005). The program consists of supervised compliance checks at various retail outlets. The principal objective of these checks is to ascertain whether or not vendors are indeed abiding by the corporation's guidelines for requesting identification from consumers appearing 25 years of age or younger. Any retailer found to be in contravention of youth access laws and/or Loto-Québec's guidelines is subject to a penalty. Penalties are as follows:

- 1. Formal warning for a first infraction
- 2. Sales suspended for 15 days for a second infraction
- 3. Sales suspended for 30 days for a third infraction
- 4. Sales suspended for 1 year for a fourth infraction

Other administrative measures and guidelines instituted by Loto-Québec include: (a) transmission of information via print material and on point-of-sale terminals to remind vendors that the sale of lottery tickets to minors is prohibited by law, and b) display of the "18+" logo at all retail outlets, on ticket display stands, and on all lottery products.

In 2007, several chain/franchise retailers responded to the implementation of Loto-Québec's administrative measures, instituting their own internal policies and guidelines regarding the sale of age-restricted products to minors. Most notably, retailers posted signs warning all customers under the age of 25 that they will be asked for proof of age when purchasing any tobacco, alcohol, or lottery product. For example, Alimentation Couche-Tard Inc., Canada's largest convenience store chain (Covell, 2006), displays notices at all service counters stating that alcohol, lottery tickets, and tobacco products cannot be sold to minors by law, and that all store personnel are required to ask for photo identification from any customer believed to be under 25 years of age. Similar notices have been posted in the province's major service station convenience stores, including Marché Express, Dépanneur Select, Dépanneur du Coin, and Dépanneur Super Relais. Although several of Québec's chain and franchise retailers have recently implemented internal policies for the sale of age-restricted products to customers appearing under 25 years of age, it is important to note that these policies are not mandated by the province's current legislature.

Compliance with Youth Access Regulations and Policies for Lottery Gambling

Since the implementation of legal prohibitions and policies to prevent the sale of lottery products to minors in Ouébec and other Canadian provinces, prevalence studies continue to indicate that a significant proportion of youth participate in gambling activities, with lottery playing remaining a predominant activity (Chevalier et al., 2005; Martin et al., 2007). Similarly, adolescents report minimal difficulties in purchasing lottery tickets from retail outlets (Felsher et al., 2004). This high prevalence of participation in and ease of access to lottery playing amongst adolescents may be partly explained by a prevailing perception of the lottery as a relatively innocuous activity, in comparison to smoking or drinking alcohol. Although no specific study has addressed vendors' attitudes and beliefs about youth participation in lottery gambling, Felsher and colleagues (2003) found that of a sample of adolescents from the greater Montreal and greater Toronto areas who indicated playing the lottery, 76.7% reported that their parents had purchased a lottery product for them at one point, and 70% disclosed that they had received a lottery ticket as a gift. As well, Chevalier and colleagues (2005) indicated that of a representative sample of high school students in the province of Québec, approximately 30% of adolescents reported receiving lottery tickets as gifts. Felsher and colleagues (2003, p. 374) suggested that parents' failure to "view lottery playing as gambling or potentially addictive" might explain this pattern of results. Ladouceur, Vitaro, and Côté (2001) attempted to test this hypothesis directly by assessing parents' attitudes, knowledge, and behaviour towards youth gambling. They found that of the parents who stated having been asked to purchase lottery tickets by their child, 59% reported complying with this request occasionally. This is particularly surprising considering

85% of parents surveyed in this study recognized that a law restricting the age of purchase of lottery tickets existed. It then follows that, given this predominant attitude of lottery playing as harmless, retailers would be no more likely to uphold the law than parents, especially if there is no fear of penalty.

To date, no empirical study has focused strictly on retailer compliance with youth access to lottery ticket laws and policies. While not scientific, findings from "sting operations" sponsored by the Viva Consulting firm in Montreal suggest that few retailers comply with Québec's youth access laws and policies (Moore, 2000, 2001). For the first survey, completed in May 2000, one male and one female minor, both 16 years of age, visited 31 retail outlets in the west end of Montreal. Of the 31 outlets surveyed, only 6 retailers refused to sell lottery tickets to the two minors. Similar findings were reported in the August 2001 survey; a 15-year-old female successfully purchased lottery tickets at 31 of 33 outlets visited. These findings are in line with figures released by Loto-Québec. In its review of social responsibility policy initiatives, Loto-Ouébec (2005) maintained that only 23 of its retailers were penalized with a formal warning for violation of the prohibition between February 2000 and March 2005, and that no vendors have had their licenses temporarily revoked. Based on these results, it appears that several retailers are still adjusting to recent regulations and policies, and have difficulty understanding the importance of complying. Empirically controlled research examining vendor compliance with youth access to lottery products laws or age identification policies is therefore needed.

Factors Associated with Illegal Sales of Restricted Products

Much like gambling participation, early onset of alcohol consumption and smoking is consistently reported as a predictor of maladaptive behaviours and/or long-term addiction (Forster, McGovern, Wagenaar, Wolfson, Perry, & Anstine, 1994; O'Grady, Asbridge, & Abernathy, 1999, 2000; Resnick, Bearman, Blum, Bauman, Haris, Jones, et al., 1997). As a result, over the last two decades, a number of provincial and federal policies have been instituted to further restrict the commercial availability of these high-risk substances to children and adolescents (Derevensky, Gupta, Messerlian, et al., 2004; Forster & Wolfson, 1998). Given the similarities between alcohol or tobacco consumption and gambling participation, an examination of the literature on retailer compliance with youth access legislation for these other high-risk substances may prove to be useful in better understanding why youth continue to gain access to lottery products.

Several studies in Canada and in the United States have identified factors that mediate tobacco and alcohol sales rates to minors. These can be classified into three general domains: (a) situational factors; (b) purchaser factors; and (c) vendor factors. Situational factors pertain to the purchase itself, such as the store location (rural areas vs. urban or suburban areas), the store ownership category (chain or franchised businesses vs. independently owned outlets), and the time of day in which the purchase attempt takes place (morning vs. afternoon vs. evening). Purchaser factors, conversely, refer to characteristics of the minors attempting to purchase restricted products. These include gender, physical attractiveness, age, ethnicity and behaviour (e.g., lying about age, buying additional items to increase probability of being sold restricted product). Finally, vendor factors signify characteristics of the clerks selling restricted products, and also include gender, age, ethnicity, and behaviour (e.g., inquiring about customer's age, probing for identification).

Situational Factors

Category of store ownership has been found to have a significant impact on illegal sales. In general, chains are stores owned and operated exclusively by a corporation, whereas franchises are locally owned businesses with basic requirements set by a parent corporation but have some flexibility in how they are operated (Schmitt, 2002). Independently owned outlets, on the other hand, are stores entirely owned and operated by an autonomous proprietor. Studies by Hanson, Hatsukami, Boyle, and Brown (2000), and Weinbaum, Quinn, Rogers, and Roeseler, (1999) recently compared the rate of illegal sales of tobacco products (cigarettes, smokeless tobacco) between store ownership types. Both reported that independently owned outlets have lower rates of compliance with youth-access-to-tobacco laws than larger chains or franchises. This pattern of results is not surprising since larger chains and franchises are more likely to have formal policies, training programs, and internal incentives to prevent sales to minors than are independently owned outlets (Altman, Linzer, Kropp, Descheemaeker, Feighery, & Fortmann, 1992).

Sales of restricted substances have also been found to vary by geographic area. Specifically, stores located in rural areas are more likely to sell restricted products to minors than stores situated in urban centers (Clark, Natanblut, Schmitt, Wolters, & Iachan, 2000). This finding may be explained by the familiarity of the clerk with the minor. Because the population size in rural communities is smaller, it is expected that clerks in rural areas are more familiar with community members than clerks in urban districts. Landrine, Klonoff, and Fritz (1994, p. 325) suppose that familiarity with the minor "increases liking and so increases the need to satisfy the customer ... irrespective of the minor's age".

Purchaser Factors

In conjunction with situational variables, several studies have examined the function of the purchaser's individual characteristics on tobacco and alcohol sales rates. The purchaser's

gender, the purchaser's chronological age or apparent age, and the purchaser's ethnicity, for their part, appear to be somewhat influential variables in retailer compliance with youth access laws.

For the purchaser's gender, researchers have reported conflicting findings; some suggest that girls are more successful in purchasing restricted products from vendors (Clark et al., 2000; Forster, Hourigan, & McGovern, 1992; O'Grady et al., 1999, 2000), while others indicate no gender differences in rates of purchase success (Klonoff & Landrine, 2004; Landrine, Klonoff, & Alcaraz, 1997). Conversely, the effect of the purchaser's age is quite robust, with older adolescents (while still underage) being more successful than younger adolescents at purchasing alcohol and tobacco (DiFranza, Savageau, & Aisquith, 1996; Forster et al., 1994; Health Canada Tobacco Control Program, 2006). Although few studies have examined the effects of the purchaser's ethnicity on vendor compliance with youth access legislation, preliminary results suggest that ethnic minority youths (especially Black youths) are more likely to be sold restricted products than are Caucasian minors (Klonoff, Landrine, & Alcaraz, 1997; Landrine, Klonoff, Campbell, & Reina-Patton, 2000).

Vendor Factors

Unlike for situational and purchaser factors, it is difficult to reliably assess the influence of vendor characteristics on the sale of restricted products. This is because certain vendor characteristics cannot be determined without the vendor's explicit knowledge (Schmitt, 2002). Nevertheless, the vendor's gender, the vendor's age, and the vendor's ethnicity constitute the most important clerk variables that impact illegal sales.

Similar to the purchaser's gender, the vendor's gender has had mixed effects on retailer compliance rates. Certain studies report that male vendors are significantly more compliant than female vendors (Clark et al., 2000), whereas others report no differences between male and female vendors (Forster et al., 1992; Klonoff & Landrine, 2004). A small number of studies have also attempted to establish the effects of the vendor's age on rates of compliance. From those available in the extant literature, it is suggested that vendors of similar age as the purchaser are the most likely to sell restricted products to minors (Health Canada Tobacco Control Program, 2006; McDermott, Scott, & Frintner, 1998). As for the vendor's ethnicity, research findings are divided, with a few studies indicating that non-Black vendors (particularly of Asian descent) are the least compliant with youth access laws (Klonoff et al., 1997; Landrine et al., 1997), and additional studies reporting no significant differences in rates of compliance between vendor ethnicities (Landrine et al., 2000; Voorhees, Swank, Stillman, Harris, Watson, & Becker, 1997).

Theoretical Models Explaining Illegal Sales of Restricted Products

Research on vendor compliance with youth access legislation demonstrates the importance of particular situational and individual-level variables on the sale of alcohol and tobacco to minors. The process by which situational, purchaser, and vendor factors influence retailers' decision to accept or decline sales of restricted products to children and minors still remains unclear from these studies. To address this limitation, three main theoretical perspectives explaining merchant sales of prohibited products to minors have been proposed within the extant literature: (a) the economic or rational choice model; (b) the sociocultural model; and (c) the decision-heuristics model.

Rational Choice Model

According to O'Grady and colleagues (2000), the basic premise behind the rational choice model is that merchants evaluate the relative economic benefit (the revenue generated) against the perceived costs (license suspension and/or fine) of a sale during the purchasing attempt. This assessment, in turn, determines the merchant's decision to accept or refuse an

illegal sale to minors. Within the rational choice framework, it is predicted that a higher cost-tobenefit ratio will deter merchants from making an illegal sale. This prediction is proposed to be most accurate when enforcement of legislation is active, because active enforcement increases retailers' perceived risk of being cited for an offence. Similar to O'Grady et al., Levy and Friend (2000) suggest that retailer compliance with youth access laws is largely determined by an interaction between the number of enforcement checks conducted in a given community, the level or severity of sanctions against retailers in legal violation, and the vendor's perceived costs for contravention of youth access laws. The difficulty with the rational choice model, however, is that in several instances the economic benefit derived from an illegal sale is not immediate or direct (Schmitt, 2002). That is, unless the clerk is actually the storeowner himself or herself, the clerk will likely not profit from completing the illegal transaction. What's more, the actual financial gain on a sale-by-sale basis remains minimal at best, making it unlikely that profit motive is the only factor to predict a retailer's decision to accept or refuse the illegal transaction (Landrine et al., 1994). Thus, while the rational choice theory provides a logical starting point for understanding the economics behind illegal sales to minors, it falls short of explaining why some clerks, but not others, make the decision to accept sales of prohibited products to minors.

Sociocultural Model

Landrine and colleagues (1994) provide a sociocultural explanation for retailer compliance with youth access laws. Conceptually, the decision to sell prohibited products to minors involves an approach-avoidance conflict for the seller, where the desire to satisfy the customer represents the approach side of the conflict, and the perceived illegality of the sale comprises the avoidance aspect (Schmitt, 2002). Landrine and colleagues suggest that the level of desire to please the customer and the perceived illegality of the sale is determined by specific sociodemographic variables. They consider the minor's gender, the minor's ethnicity, the minor's age, the ethnic similarity between the clerk and the minor, the presence of other adult customers during the purchase attempt, and the familiarity with the minor to be the most influential. For example, the need to satisfy the customer is believed to increase when the minor is Caucasian because of the higher social evaluation of Caucasians, whereas the perceived illegality of the sale is thought to decrease when a female minor makes the purchase attempt because society values the health of boys more than girls. Landrine et al. predict that illegal sales to minors will be greatest when the desire to satisfy the customer is high and the perceived illegality of the transaction is low, and that refusal of sales will be greatest when the desire to satisfy the sale is elevated. Although this model does offer an explanation for how certain contextual factors reported in the compliance literature influence the clerk's decision to accept or refuse an illegal sale, it makes the assumption that all clerks hold similar social attitudes and beliefs which govern specific vending behaviour (Schmitt, 2002).

Decision-Heuristics Model

The decision-heuristics model, originating from social psychology theory, was adapted by McCall (1994) to specifically address retailer compliance with youth access legislation. The basic premise behind this model is that the decision to request age identification serves as the principle vehicle for restricting youth access to prohibited products. However, this decision requires the vendor to process complex and substantial amounts of information simultaneously (e.g., purchaser's ethnicity, gender, dress, pitch and tone of voice). Moreover, the demands of the job frequently place store clerks under considerable time pressure (McCall, Trombetta, & Nattrass, 2002). Decision heuristics permit the vendor to reduce the complex decision of asking for identification into a simple choice that can be made rapidly and efficiently. One of the principle heuristics proposed to influence retailer's decision to ask for age identification is the representativeness heuristic. The representativeness heuristic is a strategy used to make probabilistic judgments that an individual, object and/or element "belongs to" or "fits within" a specific category. For example, a vendor may hold the stereotype that adolescent boys tend to wear "baggy" or loose-fitting jeans; when confronted with a customer wearing loose-fitting jeans, the salesperson is more likely to categorize the individual as a minor (whether or not this is actually the case), and request age identification for the sale of restricted products. If the strategy used proves to be successful in estimating the age of the purchaser, the vendor is expected to use this same technique when faced with a similar decision. The difficulty with this and other strategies, however, is that while they tend to be rather effective for making quick decisions about requesting identification or not, they are not infallible, and may in some instances lead to incorrect choices. The fallibility of heuristics in the decision to request age identification may therefore explain why youth continue to gain access to restricted products in spite of legal prohibitions. All in all, the decision heuristics model provides a reasonable account for how certain contextual variables reported in the compliance literature influence a clerk's decision to demand age identification, and that the outcome of this decision in turn predicts illegal sales to minors.

Research Goals and Hypotheses

The purpose of the current study is to examine the rate of vendor compliance with age identification policies restricting youth access to prohibited products. More specifically, this study seeks to ascertain if vendors are equally likely to request age identification from young-looking customers attempting to purchase lottery tickets as when purchasing alcohol products or

both combined. In addition to providing new information about the rate of retailer compliance, this study seeks to identify the role of gender and apparent age in vendors' decision to request age identification during the sale of a restricted product.

The precise aims of this study are: (a) to compare the rate of vendor compliance with age identification policies between selling lottery tickets, alcohol products, and the two combined; (b) to understand the role of the purchaser's and the vendor's gender (male or female) on vendor compliance; (c) to examine the interaction between vendor and purchaser gender on vendor compliance; and (d) to understand the role of the vendor's apparent age on vendor compliance.

Since the act of purchasing lottery products by minors is viewed as more socially acceptable (Felsher et al., 2003; Ladouceur et al., 2001) and does not constitute a punishable offense for the purchaser, whereas the purchase of alcohol does in fact represent a contravention of the statute respecting offenses relating to alcoholic beverages (i.e., purchaser may be fined), it is anticipated that vendors will be less likely to request age identification for the purchase of lottery products by young-looking customers than for alcohol products, or a combination of the two. This pattern of results is also expected due to the relative recency of the law prohibiting the sale of lottery products to youth.

Drawing from the theoretical and empirical literature on retailer compliance with youth access laws for tobacco and alcohol (i.e., Klonoff et al., 1997; Landrine et al., 1994; O'Grady et al., 1999), it is also anticipated that, overall, male buyers will likely be solicited for age identification more frequently than female buyers, but particularly for the purchase of alcohol, and alcohol in combination with lottery tickets. Furthermore, it is hypothesized that there will be no differences in the likeliness of requesting identification from young-looking clients between male and female vendors. However, it is expected that male vendors will be more likely to verify

the identification of male underage purchasers, and that female vendors will be more likely to request identification from female underage purchasers.

Finally, it is anticipated that young vendors (under the age of 30) will be less likely to solicit age identification from young-looking customers than older vendors (30 years of age and above). An interaction between the age of the vendor and the gender of the purchaser is also expected, such that younger vendors will be less likely to ask for age identification from a purchaser of the opposite sex than will older vendors.

CHAPTER III

Method

Participants

In total, 307 retail outlets in the Montreal area were selected to participate. This purposive stratified sample, based on municipality, was drawn from a list of 1,180 outlets obtained in the spring of 2007 via an independent web search (see Table 1 for the distribution). Since the focus of the current study is to compare retailer compliance with age identification policies for alcohol versus lottery products, the sample population was limited to retailers licensed to offer both products, specifically convenience stores and services stations with convenience stores. Of these 307 stores, 13 had moved or were no longer in business, and 14 were unable to be located. Thirty-three additional stores, identified in the same geographic region during data collection, were included in the sample to ensure representativeness.

The final sample of 313 retail outlets comprised 184 chain and/or franchise outlets and 129 independently-owned stores. Of the chain and/or franchise outlets, 37 were service station convenience stores, and the remaining 147 were standard convenience stores (see Table 2 for the distribution of banners). Every sampled outlet was visited a minimum of one and a maximum of six separate occasions (M = 3.98, SD = 1.83); no store was ever visited twice by the same purchaser and, in the majority of cases, each purchaser was served by a different vendor. Consequently, a total of 1,219 compliance checks were successfully completed. An additional 19 compliance checks were eliminated from the final analysis as pilot data (n = 16) or because the purchaser was familiar with the store clerk (n = 3). As shown in Table 3, attempts were made to balance compliance checks across purchase product type (lottery ticket, beer, lottery ticket and

beer combined), gender of the purchaser (male, female), gender of the vendor (male, female),

and vendor apparent age (younger [< 30 years of age], older [\geq 30 years of age]).

Table 1

Sample Distribution by Municipality

	Sample D	istribution
Municipality	n	%
Mercier/Hochelaga-Maisonneuve	39	12.5
Rosemont/Petite-Patrie	38	12.1
Ville-Marie	30	9.6
Ahuntsic/Cartierville	26	8.3
Verdun	26	8.3
Sud-Ouest	23	7.3
Côte-des-Neiges/Nôtre-Dame-de-Grace	22	7.0
Plateau Mont-Royal	21	6.7
Lachine	17	5.4
Montréal-Nord	13	4.2
Pierrefonds/Roxboro	13	4.2
Lasalle	12	3.8
Dollard-des-Ormeaux	10	3.2
Dorval	9	2.9
Pointe-Claire	8	2.6
Villeray/St-Michel/Park Extension	5	1.6
Ste-Geneviève/Ile-Bizard	1	.3
Total	313	100.0

Sample Distribution by Banner

	Sample D	vistribution
Banner	n	%
Couche-Tard	82	44.6
Dépanneur 7 Jours	37	20.1
Ultramar Dépanneur du Coin	14	7.6
Dépanneur Beau-Soir	13	7.1
Esso Marché Express	10	5.4
Petro-Canada SuperRelais Dépanneur	7	3.8
Les Dépanneurs Boni-Soir	6	3.3
Shell Dépanneurs Sélect	6	3.3
Dépanneur Proprio	2	1.1
Visez Juste	2	1.1
AM-PM	1	.5
Dépanneur 4 Saisons	1	.5
Dépanneur Ultra	1	.5
Le Dépanneur	1	.5
Point-D'Aide	1	.5
Total	184	100.0

		Vendor Characteristics			
	M	Male		nale	
Purchaser					
Gender	Younger ^a	Older ^b	Younger ^a	Older ^b	
		Lottery Ticket			
Male	29.0% (58)	28.0% (56)	21.0% (42)	22.0% (44)	
Female	29.1% (60)	27.7% (57)	20.4% (42)	22.8% (47)	
		Beer			
Male	28.5% (57)	27.5% (55)	20.0% (40)	24.0% (48)	
Female	29.6% (61)	26.7% (55)	21.4% (44)	22.3% (46)	
	Lottery	Ticket and Beer C	Combined		
Male	28.4% (57)	29.4% (59)	19.9% (40)	22.4% (45)	
Female	20.4% (59)	22.8% (58)	20.4% (42)	22.8% (47)	

Sample Distribution by Product Type, Gender, and Vendor Age Group

Note. Values in parentheses represent observed frequencies.

^aYounger vendors were judged to be less than 30 years of age. ^bOlder vendors were judged to be 30 years of age or greater.

Purchasers and Materials

Purchasers. Three male and three female underage purchasers were recruited through local youth employment centers and hired as casual employees. For the three male purchasers, one was 15 years of age and the two others were 16 years old. For the three female purchasers, one was 15 years of age, one was 16 years old, and one was 17 years of age. All purchasers were bilingual (English and French), and five of the six purchasers (two male, three female) indicated "Caucasian/White" as their ethnicity. The remaining male purchaser designated "Hispanic/Latino" as his ethnicity; nevertheless, when matching for purchaser age and purchaser gender, no statistically significant effect of purchaser ethnicity was observed for vendor compliance with age identification policies, $\chi^2[(1, N = 375) = 1.39, p = n.s.]$.

In order to be included in the study, purchasers were required to participate in a one-hour training program. The first five minutes of the training session covered the study's principle objectives, its perceived benefits, and the possible risks of participation. The next 20 minutes introduced the purchasers to the study's protocol and rules of conduct. In this segment, purchasers were provided with step-by-step instructions for completing a purchase attempt, as well as standard verbal responses (e.g., "I'm sorry, I don't have my ID with me" when a purchaser is asked for age identification). Purchasers were also given explicit rules of conduct, including: (a) wearing age-appropriate clothing (e.g., jeans, khakis, knee-length skirts, shirts or tshirts with no visible logos); (b) removing all piercings prior to data collection; (c) abstaining from coaxing or persuading the vendor into selling a product; (d) remaining calm and confident at all times in the store; and (e) using courteous and respectful language with vendors, managers, or other store employees. The remainder of the session was spent teaching purchasers to estimate a target person's age and ethnicity, and role-playing purchase attempts; this activity continued until the trainer was confident that all purchasers could estimate an individual's age and ethnicity with reasonable accuracy, as well as follow the protocol satisfactorily.

A panel of six males and seven females (mean age = 32.38 years, range = 20 - 57 years), blind to the aims of the study, was used to estimate the age of the youth who worked as purchasers. Panel members were recruited via an electronic mail message sent through the McGill University Faculty of Education listserv. Each panel member rated one 8.5 in. (21.59 cm) x 11 in. (27.94 cm) photograph of the head and shoulders for each of the six purchasers. The overall mean age rating for the six purchasers was 16.86 years (SD = 2.02, range = 14 – 24 years). There was a tendency for respondents to overestimate the ages of some of the purchasers; however, none of the purchasers had a mean estimated age that exceeded 18.54 years. Age estimations for female purchasers (M = 17.15 years, SD = 2.32) were slightly older than male purchasers (M = 16.56 years, SD = 1.65), but the magnitude of this discrepancy undermined the probability that this finding was significant. The panel was also asked to rate the physical attractiveness of the purchaser since physical attractiveness has been reported to influence the decision to request identification (McCall, 1997a, 1997b). Attractiveness ratings were on a 7-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (very unattractive) to 7 (very attractive). Although the sample size was too restrictive to perform any statistical tests, both male and female purchasers had a median attractiveness rating of 4 (neither attractive nor unattractive) (SD = 1.29 and SD = 0.97, respectively).

Purchase Attempt Survey. This instrument, developed for the purposes of a larger research project on vendor compliance with youth access policies, was used to collect relevant descriptive information. Descriptive information was divided across four broad domains: (a) purchaser characteristics; (b) store characteristics; (c) clerk characteristics; and (d) purchase characteristics. A copy of the survey form is included in Appendix A.

The first portion of the survey dealt with the purchaser characteristics. In this section, respondents were asked to indicate their gender, age (15 years old, 16 years old, or 17 years old), and ethnicity. Purchaser ethnicity was categorized as follows: (a) Caucasian or White; (b) Black; (c) Native or Inuit; (d) Hispanic or Latino; (e) East Indian or Pakistani; (f) Asian; (g) Arabic or Middle Eastern; and (h) other (specified). In the next section, covering the store characteristics, respondents were required to indicate the store ownership category based on certain specifications. Chain and/or franchise outlets were defined as stores with an easily identifiable banner, whereas independently-owned outlets were defined as stores without a discernable banner. A list of recognized banners was provided at training. Respondents were also required to record the number of cash registers in the store, the number of customers in line when the purchase was attempted, and the presence of other employee or managerial witnesses. Furthermore, whenever purchasing beer, respondents were expected to identify the service type: (a) *self-service* if the purchaser was able to access the product without assistance, or (b) *clerk-assisted* if the purchaser necessitated assistance from an employee to access the product (i.e., refrigerator locked).

Subsequently, for the clerk characteristics, respondents were required to identify the gender and the apparent age of the vendor. As part of a larger research project, respondents were also instructed to identify the ethnicity of the clerk. Just like purchaser ethnicity, clerk ethnicity was categorized as follows: (a) Caucasian or White; (b) Black; (c) Native or Inuit; (d) Hispanic or Latino; (e) East Indian or Pakistani; (f) Asian; (g) Arabic or Middle Eastern; and (h) other (specified).

Finally, for the purchase characteristics, respondents were expected to indicate the purchase type (instant lottery ticket, beer, combination of both). Descriptive information regarding the date of purchase, the day of the week, and the time of day was also collected as part of a larger research project. Time of day was categorized as: (a) morning (9:00 to 12:00); (b) noon or lunch (12:00 to 13:00); (c) afternoon (13:00 to 18:00); and (d) evening (after 18:00).

In addition to reporting any relevant descriptive information, respondents were required to record whether age identification was requested (primary outcome measure), as well as

whether the purchase was permitted to take place (secondary outcome measure). A sale was considered complete when the clerk entered the purchase on the cash register, took the purchaser's money, and allowed the purchaser to leave the premises with the product. *Procedure*

Checks for retailer compliance with age identification regulatory policies for alcohol and lottery products followed a similar standardized protocol as outlined in Schmitt (2002). Purchasers first signed in with their respective team leader. At sign-in, purchasers would collect their personal list of products to purchase over the course of the data collection period. This list was devised to ensure all purchasers attempted to buy equal quantities of lottery tickets alone, beer alone, and a combination of both products. The lottery products consisted of any available one-dollar instant scratch card (*Les Sept Chanceux*, *Triple 8, Pesant d'Or, Mr. Corbeil*), and if unavailable, any two-dollar instant scratch ticket. The beer product consisted of a large can (950 ml.) of domestic beer.

Equipped with a directory of retail outlet names and addresses, the team leader subsequently drove purchasers to the first retail outlet and parked the vehicle. Whenever possible, the vehicle would be parked in a location out of sight of store personnel, but where the team leader could still monitor the purchaser inside the outlet. The team leader inspected the store from inside the vehicle, to ensure that it appeared secure. If, for any reason, the store appeared unsafe or closed, the purchaser was not permitted to leave the vehicle and the team leader escorted the purchaser to the next selected location.

Prior to entering the outlet, the purchaser consulted his/her personal product list to determine which product was to be purchased at this location. Then, under the distant supervision of the team leader, the purchaser entered the store and proceeded to the location

where he/she could collect the assigned product (i.e., refrigerator for beer, service counter for lottery tickets). Purchasers buying both products simultaneously collected the beer from the fridge before proceeding to the service counter for lottery tickets. If asked to state his/her age during the transaction, the purchaser lied and responded with, "I am 18 years old". Likewise, if asked for age identification, the purchaser indicated that he/she did not have ID with him/her. Purchasers permitted to buy the products did so and requested a receipt. However, if they were refused, purchasers politely left the establishment without protest.

Once the purchase attempt was complete, the purchaser exited the establishment, returned to the vehicle, and recorded all observations onto the survey form. Completed survey forms and the purchased products were then remitted to the team leader. The team leader reviewed completed survey forms individually to ensure that all items were answered correctly, and placed all purchased products into a common container, which was later returned to the laboratory for inventory.

The team leader subsequently escorted the next purchaser to a selected outlet. The same procedure was repeated until all purchasers had visited an outlet. Frequently, the team leader returned to the first outlet and instructed a new purchaser to complete a compliance check. However, no purchaser entered any given establishment more than once, and visits to the same outlet were dispersed over time to ensure purchasers were served by different vendors. Furthermore, whenever possible, the order of the product purchase and the purchaser gender was randomized from store to store.

Data was collected over a five-month period beginning in June 2007 and ending in December 2007. Ethical approval for the study was obtained from McGill University's Faculty of Education Ethics Review Committee (see Appendix B). Compliant with the committee's regulations, all purchasers were obliged to obtain parental consent and provide assent for participation (see Appendix C). All purchasers were assured that their participation was voluntary and that they were free to withdraw from the study at any point without penalty. Purchasers were also guaranteed that survey responses would be kept strictly confidential. Furthermore, since there is no intention of assigning blame or of requiring any establishment to accept accountability for non-compliance with the law, the identities of the establishments or vendors were kept confidential. As a compensation for participating in this study, purchasers were paid an hourly wage (\$10/hour) that was not dependent upon the outcome of their purchase attempts.

Data Entry

To ensure confidentiality, each survey was assigned an identification number. Surveys were scanned using a Fujitsu scanner (Fi-5220C) and an Optical Mark Recognition software (Remark Office OMR 5.5). Each survey was scanned and then verified manually to ensure no scanning errors had occurred. The survey data was then converted to SPSS 11.0 for Windows for descriptive statistics analyses, and appropriate variable names and value labels were added to the file. The variable names, labels, and definitions are summarized in Appendix D. The survey data was also converted to SAS 9.1 for Windows for logit-model analyses.

Data Coding and Analyses

For the purposes of this study, two measures of vendor compliance with age identification policies were used. The first measure, request for age identification, was defined as the frequency that proof-of-age was requested during the attempted purchase of age-restricted products. The second measure, purchase outcome, was operationalized as the frequency that a sale of an age-restricted product was refused, regardless of whether proof-of-age was requested.

For the measure of request for age identification, responses were coded as "1" if, at any time during a purchase attempt, the vendor requested a valid piece of identification, and "0" if the vendor failed to ask for a piece of identification. Similarly, for the measure of purchase outcome, responses were coded as "0" if a sale of an age-restricted product to an underage buyer was permitted to take place, and "1" if no sale was permitted to take place. A sale was considered complete only when the clerk had entered the purchase on the cash register, took the purchaser's money, and allowed the purchaser to leave the premises with the product.

The effects of four explanatory variables on vendor compliance were addressed: product type, purchaser gender, vendor gender, and vendor age group (estimated). Product type is based on the product selected for a purchase attempt, and was coded as "0" if the product was a beer, "1" if the product was an instant lottery ticket, and "2" if the product was an instant lottery ticket and a beer combined". The "combined" product type was used as a referent because it was hypothesized to elicit the most vigilance from vendors. Purchaser gender was coded as "0" for male, and "1" for female. Conversely, vendor gender was coded as "0" for female and "1" for male. Finally, vendor age group is based on a purchaser's estimation of a vendor's age, and was coded as "0" if the vendor appeared to be less than 30 years of age, and "1" if the vendor appeared to be 30 years of age or greater.

Vendor compliance with age identification policies was first analyzed using descriptive statistics, including frequency counts, cross-tabulations, and chi-square tests of significance. To address hypotheses regarding the rate of vendor compliance between purchase type, purchaser gender, vendor gender, and vendor age group, pair-wise chi-square analyses were used. In addition, chi-square analyses stratified by purchaser gender and vendor gender were conducted to establish what role purchaser gender plays in the decision to adhere or not to age identification policies. Finally, chi-square analyses stratified by purchaser gender, by vendor gender, and by vendor age group were performed to determine how these variables interact in the decision to adhere or not to age identification policies for the sale of lottery tickets, beer, and a combination of both products.

Since a variety of omnibus tests are not available in the standard cross-tabulation approach (DeMaris, 1992), logit-model analyses were also executed. Logit-model analysis is used when the dependent (or response) measure is dichotomous and the independent (or explanatory) variables are all categorical. Logit-model analysis was selected as the general technique for analysis because the dependent variable in this study (vendor compliance with age identification policies) is non-interval, and the distributions of the independent variables (purchase attempt product type, purchaser gender, vendor gender, and vendor age group) are unlikely to satisfy the assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity. Also known as logistic regression analyses, the overall goal of logit-model analysis is to identify the explanatory variable or variables that best predict the value of a dichotomous response variable (Kennedy, 1992).

Separate logit-model analyses were performed for each measure of vendor compliance. In the first analysis, request for age identification was entered as the response variable while product type, purchaser gender, vendor gender, vendor age group, as well as all two-way interactions were used as the predictor variables. For the second analysis, purchase outcome was entered as the response variable, with product type, purchaser gender, vendor age group, and all two-way interactions used once again as the predictor variables.

Explanatory variables were entered using the *backward stepwise likelihood ratio* (backward LR) method, where all explanatory variables are initially included in the model and those variables determined insignificant (based on the probability level of the likelihood ratio

statistic or L^2) are eliminated until the remaining variables are deemed important. A change in the -2 log likelihood value (a measure of how well the model fits the data, also called the deviance) tests the null hypothesis that the coefficients of the terms removed from the model are simultaneously equal to "0" (Liao, 1994). Thus, the smaller the likelihood value, the better the model fits the data. Backward LR is often considered the preferred method for exploratory analyses because it assess the overall predictive capability of the model rather than the significance of each explanatory variable (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001) and has the advantage of identifying variables that may only appear significant when another variable is controlled or held constant (Menard, 1995).

CHAPTER IV

Results

Vendor Compliance with Age Identification Policies

Product Type

Results revealed that of the total sample of completed purchase attempts, proof-of-age was requested 62.0% (n = 756) of the time (see Table 4). Contrary to the proposed hypothesis, no significant effect of purchase type was found for request of age identification, χ^2 (2, N = 1219) = 3.46, p = .177. That is, proof-of-age was no more likely to be requested during the attempted purchase of a lottery ticket (59.6%), a beer (60.8%), or a combination of both products (65.6%). Table 4

_	Request for Age Identification		
Purchase Type	No	Yes	
Lottery Ticket	164 (40.4)	242 (59.6)	
Beer	159 (39.2)	247 (60.8)	
Lottery Ticket and Beer Combined	140 (34.4)	267 (65.6)	
Total	463 (38.0)	756 (62.0)	

Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification Categorized by Product Type

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages.

Results also revealed that of the total sample of completed purchase attempts, 58.7% (n = 715) of the purchase attempts did not result in a sale (see Table 5). Although no significant effect of purchase type for purchase outcome emerged, there was a trend where purchase attempts resulted in a sale refusal more frequently for the purchase of a lottery ticket and beer combined (63.1%) than for the purchase of either a lottery ticket (57.9%) or a beer (54.9%) alone, χ^2 (2, N = 1219) = 5.81, p = .055.

Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome Categorized by Product Type

-	Purchase Outcome		
Purchase Type	No Sale	Sale	
Lottery Ticket	235 (57.9)	171 (42.1)	
Beer	223 (54.9)	183 (45.1)	
Lottery Ticket and Beer Combined	257 (63.1)	150 (36.9)	
Total	715 (58.7)	504 (41.3)	

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages.

Interestingly, the proportion of purchase attempts resulting in a sale refusal was comparable to the percentage of purchase attempts resulting in a request for age identification. Thus, sales of age-restricted products were extremely low (3.3%) when age identification was requested but not produced.

Gender

With respect to gender differences in requests for age identification, an effect of purchaser gender was observed, χ^2 (1, N = 1219) = 21.49, p < .001. As can be seen in Table 6, significantly more male purchasers (68.6%) were asked to provide proof-of-age than were female purchasers (55.7%). The frequency of requests for age identification also varied by the gender of the vendor, χ^2 (1, N = 1219) = 6.97, p < .01; female vendors (66.2%) were significantly more likely to ask underage purchasers to provide proof-of-age than were male vendors (58.8%) (see Table 6).

Much like the requests for age identification, purchase outcome varied considerably by the gender of the purchaser, $\chi^2 (1, N = 1219) = 26.78, p < .001$, such that purchase attempts failed to

Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification Categorized by Gender

	Request for Age Identification		
Gender	No	Yes	
	Purchaser Gender***		
Male	189 (31.4)	412 (68.4)	
Female	274 (44.3)	344 (55.7)	
	Vendor Gender**		
Male	285 (41.2)	407 (58.8)	
Female	178 (33.8)	349 (66.2)	

** *p* < .01. *** *p* < .001.

result in a sale more often for male purchasers (66.1%) than for female purchasers (51.5%) (see Table 7). An effect of the gender of the vendor was also observed for purchase outcome, χ^2 (1, N = 1219) = 3.93, p < .05. As can be seen in Table 7, purchase attempts were more likely to result in a sale refusal when the vendor was a female (61.9%) than when the vendor was a male (56.2%).

Vendor Age Group

Although the vendor's exact age cannot be determined without his or her explicit knowledge, purchasers were trained to estimate a vendor's age with reasonable accuracy. Using these estimations, vendors were classified into one of two age groups: (a) younger vendors (less than 30 years of age), and (b) older vendors (vendors 30 years of age or greater). The distribution of younger vendors and older vendors in the total sample was roughly equivalent (n = 602 vs. n = 617).

	Purchase Outcome		
Gender	No Sale	Sale	
	Purchaser Gender***		
Male	397 (66.1)	204 (33.9)	
Female	318 (51.5)	300 (48.5)	
	Vendor Gender*		
Male	389 (56.2)	303 (43.8)	
Female	326 (61.9)	201 (39.9)	

Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome Categorized by Gender

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages.

* *p* < .05. *** *p* < .001.

No significant effect of the vendor's age group on requests for age identification was found, $\chi^2 (1, N = 1219) = 2.60, p = .107$; younger vendors and older vendors were equally likely to ask for a valid piece of identification from underage purchasers (64.3 % and 59.8%). While no effect of the vendor's age group on requests for age identification was observed, there was a marginally significant difference in purchase outcome between the vendor age groups, $\chi^2 (1, N = 1219) = 3.87, p = .049$. Contrary to results reported in studies of vendor compliance with youth-access-to-tobacco laws, purchase attempts resulted in a sale refusal more frequently when the vendor was estimated to be younger (61.5%) than when estimated to be older (55.9%) (see Table 8).

Category of Store Ownership

Past research indicates that category of store ownership is an important mediating factor in illegal sales to minors, with independently-owned outlets reported to have lower rates of

Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome Categorized by Vendor Age Group (Estimated)

	Purchase Outcome		
Vendor Age Group (Estimated)*	No Sale	Sale	
Younger ^a	370 (61.5)	232 (38.5)	
Older ^b	345 (55.9)	272 (44.1)	

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages.

*Younger vendors were judged to be less than 30 years of age. ^bOlder vendors were judged to be 30 years of age or greater. * p < .05.

compliance with youth access statutes than larger chains or franchises. While the purpose of the present study was to examine the effects of purchaser and vendor characteristics on vendor compliance with age identification policies, the fact that 80.2% of the total sample of younger vendors (n = 602) were surveyed at chain/franchise outlets suggests a need to investigate the impact of this factor on requests for age identification and sales refusal.

Of the total sample of purchase attempts completed, 60.4% (n = 736) were in chain/franchise outlets and the remaining 39.6% (n = 483) were in independently-owned stores. A significant effect of category of store ownership emerged for request for age identification, χ^2 (1, N = 1219) = 25.13, p < .001. Specifically, proof-of-age was requested 67.7% of the time for attempted purchases at a chain/franchise outlet compared to 53.4% of the time for attempted purchases at independently-owned stores (see Table 9). The frequency of sales refusal also varied by category of store ownership, χ^2 (1, N = 1219) = 29.02, p < .001; as can be observed in Table 10, purchase attempts resulted in a sale refusal more frequently when completed at a chain/franchise store (64.8%) than at an independently-owned outlet (49.3%).

Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification Categorized by Category of Store

Ownership

-	Request for Age Identification		
Category of Store Ownership***	No	Yes	
Chain/Franchise	238 (32.3)	498 (67.7)	
Independently-Owned	225 (46.6)	258 (53.4)	

Table 10

Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome Categorized by Category of Store Ownership

-	Purchase Outcome		
Category of Store Ownership***	No Sale	Sale	
Chain/Franchise	477 (64.8)	259 (35.2)	
Independently-Owned	238 (49.3)	245 (50.7)	

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages. *** p < .001.

Not surprisingly, the results revealed that the proportion of requests for age identification was virtually identical to the proportion of sales refusal, irrespective of the type of store surveyed. For chain/franchise outlets, the frequency of requests for age identification (67.7%) corresponded with the frequency of sales refusal (64.8%). Similarly, for independently-owned store, the frequency of request for proof-of-age (53.4%) was comparable to the frequency of sales refusal (49.3%). Thus, sales of age-restricted products were extremely low at both

chain/franchise outlets (2.9%) and at independently-owned stores (4.1%) when age identification was required but not presented.

Finally, since the effect of the product type selected for a purchase is of particular interest in this study, differences in vendor compliance between chain/franchise and independentlyowned outlets were examined for each product type (lottery ticket, beer, both products combined). No statistically significant differences were found between category of store ownership and product type. That is, purchase attempts for a lottery ticket, beer, or both products together were equally likely to result in a request for proof-of-age or a sale refusal at chain/franchise and independently-owned stores.

Purchaser Gender and Vendor Gender

Differences in vendor compliance between male and female vendors were examined by each gender of the purchaser. Of the total sample of male purchasers (n = 601), 56.9% were served by a male vendor, and 43.1% were served by a female vendor. With respect to requests for age identification, a significant association between purchaser gender and vendor gender was observed for male purchasers, χ^2 (1, N = 601) = 9.58, p < .01. However, contrary to the proposed hypothesis, male underage purchasers were asked to provide proof-of-age more often by female vendors (75.3%) than by male vendors (63.5%) (see Table 11). A significant association between purchaser gender and vendor gender was also found for purchase outcome when the purchaser was male, χ^2 (1, N = 601) = 5.05, p < .05. As can be seen in Table 12, for male purchasers, a purchase attempt resulted in a sale refusal more often when the vendor was female (71.0%) than when the vendor was male (62.3%).

Approximately the same distribution between male and female vendors was observed for female purchasers. That is, of the total sample of female purchasers (n = 618), 56.6% were

		Vendor	Gender	
	Ma	le Female		nale
Purchaser				
	Age ID Not	Age ID	Age ID Not Requested	Age ID Requested
Gender	Requested	Requested		
Male**	125 (36.5)	217 (63.5)	64 (24.7)	195 (75.3)
Female	160 (45.7)	190 (55.2)	114 (42.5)	154 (57.5)

Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification (ID) by Purchaser and Vendor Gender

** p < .01.

Table 12

Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Purchaser and Vendor Gender

		Vendor	Gender	
	Ma	ale	Fen	nale
Purchaser				
Gender	No Sale	Sale	No Sale	Sale
Male*	213 (62.3)	129 (37.7)	184 (71.0)	75 (29.0)
Female	176 (50.3)	174 (49.7)	142 (53.0)	126 (47.0)

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages. * p < .05.

served by a male vendor, and 43.4% were served by a female vendor. Contrary to the proposed hypothesis, no statistically significant effect of purchaser gender and vendor gender was found for female purchasers with respect to requests for age identification, $\chi^2 (1, N = 618) = 0.62$, p =

.431. Similarly, no significant relation between purchaser and vendor gender was observed for purchase outcome when the purchaser was female, χ^2 (1, N = 618) = 0.44, p = .506.

Purchaser Gender and Vendor Age Group

Differences in vendor compliance between younger and older vendors were also examined by each gender of the purchaser. Among the male purchasers (n = 601), 48.9% were served by younger vendors, and 51.1% were served by older vendors. With respect to requests for age identification, no statistically significant association between purchaser gender and vendor age group was found for male purchasers, $\chi^2(1, N = 601) = 0.92$, p = .338. As can be seen in Table 13, male underage purchasers were as equally likely to be asked for proof-of-age by younger vendors (50.2%) as by older vendors (49.8%). Similarly, no significant relationship between purchaser gender and vendor age group was observed for purchase outcome when the purchaser was male, $\chi^2(1, N = 601) = 0.68$, p = .409.

Table 13

Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification (ID) by Purchaser Gender and Vendor Age Group (Estimated)

	Vendor Age Group (Estimated)						
	Your	nger ^a	Older ^b				
Purchaser	Age ID Not	Age ID	Age ID Not	Age ID			
Gender	6		Requested	Requested			
Male	125 (36.5)	217 (63.5)	64 (24.7)	195 (75.3)			
Female	160 (45.7)	190 (55.2)	114 (42.5)	154 (57.5)			

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages.

^aYounger vendors were judged to be less than 30 years of age. ^bOlder vendors were judged to be 30 years of age or greater.

Of the total sample of female purchasers (n = 618), 49.8% were served by younger vendors, and 50.2% were served by older vendors. Results revealed no statistically significant association between purchaser gender and vendor age group for female purchasers with respect to requests for age identification, χ^2 (1, N = 618) = 1.92, p = .166. Interestingly, a significant effect of purchaser gender and vendor age group was observed for purchase outcome, χ^2 (1, N =618) = 4.06, p < .05. For female purchasers, a purchase attempt resulted in a sale refusal more frequently when the vendor was estimated to be younger (55.5 %) than older (47.4%) (see Table 14).

Table 14

Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Purchaser Gender and Vendor Age Group (Estimated)

	······································	Vendor Age Group (Estimated)						
	You	nger ^a	Old	Older ^b				
Purchaser								
Gender	No Sale	Sale	No Sale	Sale				
Male	199 (67.7)	95 (32.3)	198 (64.5)	109 (35.5)				
Female*	171 (55.5)	137 (44.5)	147 (47.4)	163 (52.6)				

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages.

^aYounger vendors were judged to be less than 30 years of age. ^bOlder vendors were judged to be 30 years of age or greater.

* *p* < .05.

Vendor Gender and Vendor Age Group

Given significant discrepancies in vendor compliance with age identification policies for vendor gender and for vendor age group, differences in requests for age identification and for purchase outcome between younger and older vendors were examined by each gender of the vendor. Of the total sample of male vendors (n = 692), 50.9 % were judged to be younger vendors, compared to 49.1% who were viewed as older vendors. With respect to requests for age identification, no statistically significant relationship between gender of the vendor gender and vendor age group was found for male vendors, χ^2 (1, N = 692) = 0.03, p = .874. Likewise, results revealed no significant association between gender of the vendor age group for purchase outcome, χ^2 (1, N = 692) = 0.03, p = .863.

Conversely, among the total sample of female vendors (n = 527), 47.4 % were judged to be younger, and to 52.6% were perceived to be older. This time, a significant effect of gender of the vendor and vendor age group emerged for requests for age identification when the vendor was female, χ^2 (1, N = 527) = 8.11, p < .01. As can be seen in Table 15, younger female vendors (72.4%) were more likely to request proof-of-age from underage purchasers than were older female vendors (60.6%). An association between gender of the vendor and vendor age group was also observed for purchase outcome when the vendor was female, χ^2 (1, N = 527) = 8.62, p < .01. Specifically, a purchase attempt resulted in a sale refusal more frequently when the female vendor was younger (68.4 %) than older (56.0%) (see Table 16).

Gender and Product Type

To reiterate, the effect of the product type selected for a purchase is of interest in this study. Despite no significant effects of product type, differences in vendor compliance with age identification policies between purchase attempts for a lottery ticket, a beer, and both products combined were examined by each gender of the purchaser. Of the total sample of purchase attempts by males (n = 601), 33.3% were for a lottery ticket, another 33.3% were for a beer, and a final 33.4% were for both products combined. With respect to requests for age identification, no statistically significant differences between gender of the purchaser and product type was

Observed Frequencies of Request for Age Identification (ID) by Vendor Gender and Age Group

(Estimated)

		Vendor Age Group (Estimated)						
	Your	Younger ^a		Older ^b				
Vendor								
	Age ID Not	Age ID	Age ID Not	Age ID				
Gender	Requested	Requested	Requested	Requested				
Male	146 (41.5)	206 (58.5)	139 (40.9)	201 (59.1)				
111uic	``			· · ·				
Female**	69 (27.6)	181 (72.4)	109 (39.4)	168 (60.6)				

^aYounger vendors were judged to be less than 30 years of age. ^bOlder vendors were judged to be 30 years of age or greater.

** *p* < .01.

Table 16

Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Vendor Gender and Age Group (Estimated)

		Vendor Age Group (Estimated)					
	Your	nger ^a	Older ^b				
Vendor							
Gender	No Sale	Sale	No Sale	Sale			
Male	199 (56.5)	153 (43.5)	190 (55.9)	150 (44.1)			
Female**	171 (68.4)	79 (31.6)	155 (56.0)	122 (44.0)			

^aYounger vendors were judged to be less than 30 years of age. ^bOlder vendors were judged to be 30 years of age or greater.

** *p* < .01.

found for male purchasers, $\chi^2 (2, N = 601) = 1.23$, p = .540. Similarly, the results revealed no significant differences between gender of the purchaser and product type for purchase outcome, $\chi^2 (2, N = 601) = 0.77$, p = .679.

Approximately the same distribution of product types was observed for female purchasers. That is, among the total sample of purchase attempts by females (n = 618), 33.3% were for a lottery ticket, another 33.3% were for a beer, and a final 33.3% were for a lottery ticket and a beer in combination. Results revealed no statistically significant association between gender of the purchaser and product type for female purchasers with respect to requests for age identification, χ^2 (2, N = 618) = 2.57, p = .277. Interestingly, a significant relationship between gender of the purchaser and product type was observed for the purchase outcome, χ^2 (2, N = 618) = 6.34, p < .05. Specifically, for females, purchase attempts resulted in a sale refusal more frequently for the purchase of a lottery ticket and beer combined (58.3%) than for either a lottery ticket (50.0%) or beer (46.1%) alone (see Table 17).

Table 17

-	Purchaser Gender							
	Ma	lle	Female					
Product								
Туре	No Sale	Sale	No Sale	Sale				
Lottery Ticket	132 (66.0)	68 (34.0)	103 (50.0)	103 (50.0)				
Beer	128 (64.0)	72 (36.0)	95 (46.1)	111 (53.9)				
Combined ^a *	137(68.2)	64 (31.8)	120 (58.3)	86 (41.7)				

Observed Frequencies of Purchase Outcome by Product Type and Purchaser Gender

Note. The values in parentheses represent percentages.

^aCombined is a purchase attempt of a lottery ticket and a beer in combination.

* *p* < .05.

Differences in vendor compliance with age identification policies between purchase attempts for a lottery ticket, a beer, and both products combined were also examined by each gender of the vendor. No statistically significant differences between gender of the vendor and product type were found with respect to requests for age identification. More specifically, male vendors were equally likely to request proof-of-age from underage purchasers attempting to buy a lottery ticket (56.7%), beer (57.5%), or both products combined (62.2%), χ^2 (2, N = 692) = 1.72, p = .423. Similarly, female vendors were equally likely to ask for a valid piece of identification from underage purchasers attempting to buy a lottery ticket (63.4%), beer (65.2%), or both products combined (70.1%), χ^2 (2, N = 527) = 1.88, p = .391. No significant relationship between gender of the vendor and product type were found for purchase outcome; a purchase attempt of a lottery ticket (55.8%), beer (51.8%), or a lottery ticket and beer combined (60.9%) was equally likely to result in a sale refusal for male vendors, $\chi^2(2, N = 692) = 3.97$, p = .137. The same finding was true for female vendors; purchase attempts of a lottery ticket (60.6%), beer (59.0%), or both products combined (66.1%) resulted in a sale refusal equally often, χ^2 (2, N = 527) = 2.07, p = .356.

Vendor Age Group and Product Type

Given significant discrepancies in purchase outcomes for vendor age groupings, and the underlying interest in the effect of the product type, differences in vendor compliance between purchase attempts for a lottery ticket, beer, and both products combined were examined by each vendor age group. Of the total sample of vendors judged to be younger (n = 602), 33.6% served an underage customer attempting to purchase a lottery ticket, 33.6% served an underage customer attempting to purchase a beer, and the remaining 32.9% served an underage customer attempting to purchase a beer. With respect to requests for age

identification, no statistically significant differences between vendor age group and product type was found, $\chi^2 (2, N = 602) = 2.12, p = .346$. Also, no significant association between vendor age group and product type was observed for purchase outcome, $\chi^2 (2, N = 602) = 2.76, p = .251$.

Among the vendors perceived to be older (n = 617), 33.1% served an underage customer attempting to purchase a lottery ticket, 33.1% served an underage customer attempting to purchase a beer, and the remaining 33.9% served an underage customer attempting to purchase both products. Once again, no statistically significant relationship between vendor age group and product type emerged with respect to requests for age identification, χ^2 (2, N = 617) = 1.49, p =.475. Likewise, no significant differences between vendor age group and product type was found for purchase outcome, χ^2 (2, N = 617) = 4.13, p = .127.

Logit-Model Analysis

In addition to conducting descriptive analyses to compare rates of vendor compliance by specific contextual variables, a large body of empirical studies test predictive associations between contextual variables and vendor compliance in regression models. Logit-model analyses were used to identify factors that together provided the best (non-redundant) prediction of retailer compliance with age identification policies. Separate logit-model analyses were entered using the backward stepwise likelihood ratio (backward LR) method, wherein all explanatory variable are initially entered in the model, and those variables determined to be insignificant were removed (on condition that their exclusion didn't significantly weaken the model's fit). Analyses were conducted with SAS 9.1 software using the GENMOD procedure.

Factors Associated with Requests for Age Identification

An initial logit-model analysis was performed with entering all contextual factors (product type, gender of the purchaser, gender of the vendor, vendor age group) and all two-way interactions (product type x gender of the purchaser, product type x gender of the vendor, product type x vendor age group, gender of the purchaser x gender vendor, gender of the purchaser x vendor age group, gender of the vendor x vendor age group) as the covariates. Requests for age identification was entered as the dichotomous dependent variable, with "yes" receiving a value of 1, and "no" receiving a value of 0.

As observed in Table 18, the variables to be retained included gender of the purchaser, gender of the vendor, vendor age group, and the interaction between vendor gender and vendor age grouping. The strength of association between each factor and the outcome of request for age identification was estimated by an odds ratio (OR); the value indicates the change in odds of the occurrence of an event with a one-unit increase in the independent variable (β), holding the contribution of the other variables constant. If the odds ratio deviates sufficiently from 1, the factor and the outcome of requesting age identification are considered to be associated. All odds ratios were reported with a 95% confidence interval (CI). It is important to bear in mind that main effects for variables included in two-way interactions are interpreted as the effects of that variable when the effect of the other variable is "0" (Allison, 1999).

The final model suggested that the odds of being asked to provide proof-of-age was approximately 1.8 times greater (CI = 1.39, 2.22) for male purchasers. The influence of the gender of the vendor on requests for age identification was indirect, mediated by the vendor's age grouping. Specifically, among younger vendors, the odds of requesting valid identification from underage purchasers was nearly 2 times greater (CI = 1.36, 2.61) for females. Much like for

Logit Model Analysis Predicting Request for Age Identification

Source	ß	S.E.	Wald χ^2	df	р	OR	95% CI
Male Purchaser	0.56	0.12	21.79	1	<.001	1.75	1.39 – 2.22
Female Vendor, given Vendor Age Group	0.63	0.17	8.22	1	.004	1.88	1.36 – 2.61
Younger Vendor, given Vendor Gender	0.55	0.16	4.70	1	.03	1.73	1.27 – 2.35
Female Vendor x Younger Vendor		0.25	5.26	1	.02	1.76	1.09 - 2.84

Note. ß is the parameter estimates. OR is the odds ratio. Cl is the confidence interval.

the gender of the vendor, the influence of the vendor's age group on requests for age identification was indirect, mediated by the gender of the vendor. As such, among females, the odds of requesting age identification was approximately 1.7 times greater (CI = 1.27, 2.35) for younger vendors. Not surprisingly, the interaction between vendor gender and vendor age group was also found to substantially increase the odds of requesting age identification, with young female vendors approximately 1.8 times (CI = 1.09, 2.84) more likely to request age identification from young-looking purchasers.

Factors Associated with Purchase Outcome

A second logit-model analysis was performed entering all the same covariates as the initial logit model for request for age identification. Purchase outcome was then entered as the dichotomous dependent variable, with "no sale" (sale refusal) receiving a value of 1, and "sale" receiving a value of 0. As can be observed in Table 19, the variables to be retained once again included gender of the purchaser, gender of the vendor, vendor age group, and the interaction between vendor gender and vendor age group. This time, however, the product type variable was retained.

Logit Model Analysis Predicting Sale Refusal (Purchase Outcome)

Source	ß	S.E.	Wald χ^2	df	p	OR	95% CI
Product Type ^a							
Beer	-0.35	0.15	5.94	1	.015	0.70	0.53 - 0.93
Lottery Ticket	-0.23	0.15	2.48	1	.116	0.79	0.60 - 1.06
Male Purchaser	0.62	0.12	27.13	1	<.001	1.86	1.47 – 2.34
Female Vendor, given Vendor Age Group	0.52	0.17	4.92	1	.027	1.68	1.22 – 2.61
Younger Vendor, given Vendor Gender	0.55	0.16	6.00	1	.014	1.74	1.28 - 2.36
Female Vendor x Younger Vendor	0.56	0.24	4.52	1	.034	1.67	1.31 - 2.12

Note. β is the parameter estimates. OR is the odds ratio. CI is the confidence interval. ^aLottery ticket and beer in combination is the referent product type.

The final model suggested that the odds of having the sale of an age-restricted product refused was approximately 1.9 times greater (CI = 1.47, 2.34) for male purchasers. The influence of the gender of the vendor on requests for age identification was indirect, mediated by the vendor's age grouping. Specifically, among younger vendors, the odds of requesting valid identification from underage purchasers was 1.7 times greater (CI = 1.22, 2.61) for females. Although the magnitude of this deviation is not *sizeable*, it is nevertheless significant. The influence of the vendor's age group on requests for age identification was equally indirect, mediated by the gender of the vendor. Thus, among females, the odds of requiring underage purchasers to show age identification was approximately 1.7 times greater (CI = 1.28, 2.36) for younger vendors. Furthermore, the interaction between vendor gender and vendor age group was found to substantially increase the odds of requesting age identification, with young female vendors approximately 1.7 times (CI = 1.31, 2.12) more likely to request age identification from

young purchasers. Finally, the likelihood of a sale refusal was not significantly different for the attempted purchase of a lottery ticket relative to the attempted purchase of a beer and lottery ticket in combination, but it was significantly less likely for the attempted purchase of a beer (OR = 0.70, CI = 0.53, 0.93).

CHAPTER V

Discussion

The present study examined the influence of particular purchaser and vendor characteristics on the rate of vendor compliance with age identification policies restricting youth access to prohibited products. Specifically, the role of gender and vendor age in vendors' decision to request age identification from an underage purchaser and/or permit the sale of regulated goods was investigated. To provide perspective, youth access to lottery products, alcohol products (beer), and the combination of both products together was compared. The selection of these variables was predicated upon our current state of knowledge of factors that mediate tobacco and alcohol sales to minors.

Vendor Compliance with Age Identification Policies

Vendor compliance with age identification policies was conceptualized as two distinct but related merchant behaviours: (a) requesting proof-of-age, in the form of a valid piece of identification, from young customers attempting to purchase age-restricted products; and (b) refusing to sell age-restricted products to underage customers. McCall (1993, 1994) posits that the decision to request age identification is an important "gate-keeping mechanism" for restricting youth access to prohibited products, because it allows vendors to identify underage youth and subsequently turn them away. By the same token, refusing to sell age-restricted merchandise to young customers is a direct means for limiting youth access, but this behaviour may occur independently of asking for proof-of-age. For this reason, requesting age identification and subsequently refusing to sell regulated merchandise was examined independently.

With respect to requesting age identification, a moderate proportion of vendors surveyed in this study were compliant with the province's age identification policies for lottery products and alcohol. Overall, vendors requested proof-of-age for 62.0% of the purchase attempts completed. This figure is in sharp contrast to findings from earlier studies of vendor compliance with youth access legislation. Past research suggests that between 4% and 28% of retailers solicit proof-of-age from minors during an attempted purchase of cigarettes or alcohol (DiFranza et al., 1996; Erickson, Woodruff, Wildey, & Kenney, 1993; Landrine, Klonoff, & Alcaraz, 1996; Scribner & Cohen, 2001; Willner, Hart, Binmore, Cavendish, & Dunphy, 2000).

Discrepancies in the rate of requests for age identification may perhaps be an artifact of regional differences in enforcement efforts (i.e., no active enforcement vs. publicized compliance checks). In fact, increases in retailer compliance with age identification policies for both tobacco and alcohol have been documented immediately following publicized enforcement activities (Cummings, Hyland, Saunders-Martin, Perla, Coppola, & Pechacek, 1998; Rigotti, DiFranza, Chang, Tisdale, Kemp, & Singer, 1997; Scribner & Cohen, 2001; Wagenaar, Toomey, & Erickson, 2005). Given the media coverage of Loto-Québec's increased enforcement efforts at the time of data collection (Fauteux, 2007; Lacoursière, 2007), it is not surprising that a higher proportion of vendors were requesting age identification from the young-looking customers in this study than previously reported in the compliance literature. Nevertheless, while a larger proportion of vendors do indeed request proof-of-age from young-looking customers during a sales transaction, a significant number (38.0%) of them fail to do so, which is disconcerting since it has been shown that estimating the age of customers with reasonable accuracy is problematic for vendors (McCall, 1993; McCall et al., 2002; Merrill, Stanford, Lindsay, & Neiger, 2000). This finding is equally alarming considering the results from this study as well as from past

research (Clark et al., 2000; Klonoff & Landrine, 2004; Landrine et al., 1996) suggest that asking for proof-of-age is linked to decreased sales of prohibited products to minors. In fact, of the vendors who do request proof-of-age from young customers, only a small minority (2 - 4%)accept to sell an age-restricted product when no identification is produced.

Similar to requests for age identification, a moderate proportion of vendors surveyed refused to sell lottery tickets and beer to the underage purchasers in this study. Specifically, vendors declined the sale of an age-restricted product for 58.7% of the purchase attempts. This rate of refusal is also somewhat higher than figures reported in earlier vendor compliance studies for tobacco and alcohol products (Erickson et al., 1993; Forster et al., 1992; Forster et al., 1994; Forster, Murray, Wolfson, & Wagenaar, 1995; Preusser, Williams, & Weinstein, 1994), but is considerably lower than the rates reported in more recent surveys (Clark et al., 2000; C'Grady et al., 1999).

The rate of refusal for the sale of age-restricted products may vary for several reasons. For one, variability in the rates is likely to be a function of regional differences. Reported levels of retailer compliance with youth access regulations for tobacco products in the Montreal region have been consistently lower than those for other major Canadian cities, such as Toronto, Vancouver, and Calgary (Health Canada Tobacco Control Program, 2004, 2005, 2006). Since Montreal was the geographic area surveyed in this study, it is plausible that levels of retailer compliance with regulations prohibiting the sale of lottery products and alcohol to minors are lower than those reported in other recent compliance studies. Alternatively, rates can differ depending on the type of outlet surveyed. The sample population in this study consisted of convenience stores only, whereas the majority of recent compliance surveys included pharmacies/drugstores or liquor stores in their sample population. Interestingly, sales to underage patrons are reported to be highest at local convenience stores and lowest at drugstores and liquor stores (Paschall, Grube, Black, Flewelling, Ringwalt, & Biglan, 2007; Radecki & Zdunich, 1993). A final possible explanation for divergence in the rates is that most recent studies have focused exclusively on vendor compliance with tobacco laws. Systematic federal programs, such as Canada's Federal Tobacco Control Strategy (FTCS), have allocated considerable resources to maintain a minimum threshold level of retailer compliance with youth-access-to-tobacco regulations (i.e., 80% retailer compliance). However, no comparable federal programs for alcohol or lottery products exist in Canada, largely because provincial governments are awarded exclusive authority over alcohol and gambling activities. What's more, only until recently have Loto-Québec and the Régie des Alcools, des Courses, et des Jeux (the governmental board that is responsible for enforcing the conditions of alcohol licenses) implemented recommendations or guidelines to further restrict youth access to lottery products and alcohol from commercial sources (cf. Côté, 2004; Loto-Québec, 2005). A lack of stringent, systematic enforcement programs to enhance vendor compliance for alcohol and lottery products may thus account for this study's lower rate of refusal for the sale of age-restricted products. Irrespective of why this study's rate of refusal is inconsistent with rates reported in other compliance studies, the finding that little more than half of the attempts to purchase age-restricted merchandise resulted in the vendor refusing the sale suggests that a sizeable number of minors nevertheless have access to alcohol and lottery products from commercial sources.

Vendor Compliance with Policies for Lottery vs. Alcohol Products

Although a number of studies have investigated retailer compliance with youth access laws and policies for tobacco and alcohol, no empirically-controlled research has examined vendor compliance with age identification policies and youth access legislation for lottery products. A principal goal of this study was to ascertain whether the rate of vendor compliance with youth access policies for alcohol was equal or superior to the rate of vendor compliance with youth access policies for lottery products. This study failed to reveal differences in the rate of vendor compliance between lottery and alcohol products. Specifically, vendors were equally likely to request age identification from young-looking customers attempting to purchase an instant lottery ticket, a beer, or a combination of the two. Vendors were also just as likely to refuse the sale of a lottery ticket (57.9%) or a beer (54.9%) to underage purchasers. Remarkably, however, vendors refused a sale significantly more often when a young-looking customer attempted to purchase a beer alone.

It is unclear whether Loto-Québec's widely publicized compliance checks at retail outlets across the province are responsible for these findings. Levy and Friend (2000) suggested that retailer compliance is likely determined by a synergy between the number of compliance checks conducted in a given community, the level or severity of sanctions against retailers in violation, and the vendor's perceived costs for contravention of youth access laws or policies. As such, a rise in the number of compliance checks performed in a given community enhances vendor compliance. Following this line of reasoning, it is possible that Loto-Québec's enforcement activities, carried out during the data collection period for this study, may have incited greater vendor compliance with the province's age identification policies for lottery tickets, resulting in comparable levels of compliance for alcohol and lottery products. Despite this unknown, which would be better clarified with time-series research, the results suggest that approximately 40% of vendors fail to comply with Québec's age identification policies for lottery products, and this represents a serious public policy concern.

Gender and Age Differences in Vendor Compliance

The decision to ask for age identification from and/or decline the sale of an age-restricted product to underage consumers is a complex process that requires the vendor to process substantial amounts of information simultaneously (e.g., purchaser's dress, pitch, tone of voice, etc.). While self-report data indicate that vendors are motivated to limit youth access to regulated products (Dovell, Mowat, Dorland, & Lam, 1998; McCall, 1993), their decisions are not always impartial. Indeed, certain contextual variables have been shown to influence the vendors' decision to comply with youth access legislation or policies (McCall et al., 2002). This study sought to identify the role of gender and age in retailer compliance with age identification policies for regulated products.

The importance of the purchaser's gender in vendor compliance was clearly established. The results revealed that the gender of the purchaser had the strongest independent effect, with male purchasers most likely to be required to produce age identification and more often declined the purchase of age-restricted merchandise. Although this finding is consistent with previously published research (Clark et al., 2000; DiFranza et al., 1996; O'Grady et al., 1999; Ma, Shive, & Tracy, 2001), it could be argued that female's greater access to regulated products is an artifact of differences in the apparent age of the minors. In general, female minors tend to be perceived as older than male minors of the same chronological age (DiFranza et al., 1996; McCall et al., 2002; Willner & Rowe, 2001), and the female purchasers in this study, on average, were rated as slightly older than the male purchasers. However, when interpreting these results related to the gender of the purchaser and retailer compliance, one should bear in mind that Québec's present guidelines and/or recommendations for the sale of alcohol and lottery products petition retailers to request identification from consumers appearing 25 years old or younger, and none of the purchasers in this study were rated above 24 years of age. Moreover, when the effects of apparent age are indeed controlled for (e.g., Clark et al., 2000; DiFranza et al., 1996), female minors continue to be more successful at purchasing age-restricted merchandise than male minors.

An unexpected finding was the robust association between the gender of the vendor and vendor compliance with age identification policies. Female vendors were more likely to request age identification from and decline the sale of age-restricted merchandise to young-looking customers than male vendors. The influence of the vendor's gender on retailer compliance was nevertheless indirect, mediated by the vendor's age. Accordingly, among younger vendors, females were found to have a significantly greater likelihood of requesting valid identification from underage customers, as well as a greater likelihood of refusing the sale of age-restricted goods to underage customers. Conversely, gender made little difference in retailer compliance for older vendors.

Not surprising then was the finding of an indirect relationship between the age of the vendor and compliance with age identification policies, holding only for female vendors. Specifically, among female vendors, those identified as younger were nearly twice as likely to ask underage purchasers for proof-of-age during a transaction, as well as nearly twice as likely to refuse the sale of regulated merchandise to underage purchasers. The age of the male vendor, on the other hand, made no significant difference in the likelihood of requesting age identification from underage customers attempting to purchase age-restricted products. Likewise, no differences in the likelihood of refusing a sale to underage purchasers were found for younger versus older male vendors.

It seems unintuitive that younger female vendors would be more compliant with age identification policies given that, within the extant literature, it has been suggested that vendors of similar age as the purchaser are more likely to sell restricted products to minors (Forster et al., 1995; Levinson, Hendershott, & Byers, 2002; McDermott et al., 1998). However, a larger proportion of the young female vendors surveyed in this study were employed at chain and/or franchise outlets (83.2%) than at independently-owned stores (16.8%), and are therefore more likely to have received formal training to prevent sales to minors (Altman et al., 1992). Additionally, there is no real financial incentive for vendors employed at chain and/or franchise stores to sell age-restricted products. That is, unless the vendor is actually the storeowner himself or herself, the vendor will unlikely profit from completing the illegal transaction (Schmitt, 2002), and the probability that the young female vendors in this study were the business owners themselves was negligible. It is possible then that the association between the gender and age of the vendor with retailer compliance is actually an artifact of young females' place of employment. The contribution of the category of store ownership to the interaction between vendor gender and vendor age group needs to be examined in the future.

Factors Mediating Compliance with Policies for Lottery vs. Alcohol Products

Despite obvious differences in the rate of retailer compliance for male and female purchasers, compliance levels were generally comparable across purchase product types. Purchase attempts of a lottery ticket, a beer, or both products were equally likely to result in a request for age identification for male or female purchasers. Similarly, when the effects of all other variables were controlled for, purchase attempts of a lottery ticket, a beer, or a lottery ticket and a beer combined were equally likely to result in a sales refusal for male or female purchasers. Differences in levels of vendor compliance had also emerged between younger male and younger female vendors. Not surprisingly, however, the likelihood of soliciting underage purchasers for proof-of-age during attempted purchases of lottery tickets, beer, or a combination of the two were comparable for male or female vendors, as well as for younger or older vendors. Furthermore, purchase attempts for a lottery ticket, a beer, or both were equally likely to result in a sale refusal for male or female vendors, and for younger or older vendors. Although significance testing for the interactive relationship between vendor gender, vendor age, and purchase product type in retailer compliance was not conducted, given the previous results, it is estimated that the rates of requests for age identification and the rates of sales refusals for young female or young male vendors were not significantly different across purchase product types.

Taken together, these results extend previous research (Clark et al., 2000; DiFranza et al., 1996; Forster et al., 1995; O'Grady et al., 1999; Ma, et al., 2001), suggesting that the influence of gender and age in vendors' decision to request valid identification and vendors' decision to refuse a sale is consistent across different types of age-restricted products. This is not to say that gender and age are the only factors affecting this particular decision-making process; the purchaser's ethnicity, the vendor's ethnicity, the day of purchase, the time of day, and the number of customers in line at the time of purchase have all been reported as significant predictors of tobacco and alcohol sales to youth. The larger study of which this was a part of will assess the role of these other factors in retailer compliance with age identification policies. Additionally, the correlational nature of this study does not allow for firm conclusions that there is a causal relationship between these factors and retailer compliance with age identification policies. Nevertheless, the fact that particular groups of youth have greater access to age-restricted merchandise, and that particular groups of vendors are willing to sell to minors

represents a valuable concern for programs aimed at reducing the commercial availability of these age-restricted products.

Implications for Prevention and Awareness Initiatives

The present study contributed to knowledge about youth access to lottery products in important ways. It provides empirical evidence that, consistent with self-report data (Felsher et al., 2004), adolescents have reasonable access to lottery products from retail outlets. Also in line with self-report data and findings from recent prevalence studies (Chevalier et al., 2005; Martin et al., 2007), the results of this study confirm that young girls find it easier to purchase lottery tickets from retail outlets than boys, which *may* explain in part why lottery playing remains a preferred activity for female adolescents in spite of legal prohibitions. Furthermore, it is apparent from this study that youth access to high-risk products is not restricted to lottery tickets; minors also have reasonable access to alcohol from commercial sources. Finally, the findings from this study lend credence to the notion that requesting age identification from young customers is an effective instrument for limiting sales of prohibited merchandise to minors.

The results of the current study are particularly valuable because they provide concrete information on weaknesses in regulatory policies that facilitate easy access to lottery products and alcohol. One of the most obvious vulnerabilities is the lack of a uniform regulation with respect to requesting age identification, accompanied by fines for non-compliance. In 2002, Loto-Québec enacted a formal policy requiring all license holders to request a valid piece of identification from consumers appearing 25 years of age or younger. However, no comparable policies exist for alcohol licensees; to date, there is only a *recommendation* in place that alcohol vendors solicit consumers appearing less than 25 years old for proof-of-age (Côté, 2004). What's more, penalty for contravention of Loto-Québec's age identification policies is temporary license suspension. Although license suspension is an undesirable consequence for most vendors, it *may* not be severe enough to encourage high levels of compliance. Findings from DiFranza's (2005) assessment of best practices lend support to this argument; in a comparison of annual merchant compliance efforts between the 10 highest and 10 lowest performing U.S. states, DiFranza found that no state reached an 80% compliance level without official prosecution of offenders, or without dispensing modest fines (e.g., \$300) for contravention. Given the large body of evidence suggesting that requiring age identification is a strong predictor of merchant compliance for tobacco and alcohol (Clark et al., 2000; Health Canada Tobacco Control Program, 2004, 2005, 2006; Klonoff & Landrine, 2004; Landrine et al., 1996; Paschall et al., 2007), enactment of formal, explicit regulations compelling vendors to verify the age of *all* consumers appearing 25 years of age or younger, combined with modest fines for non-compliance, may be warranted to enhance vendor compliance.

The ratification of formal age identification policies is a necessary step in restricting youth access to alcohol and lottery products from commercial sources, but their effectiveness alone is restricted. Proper enforcement of these policies, via covert or publicized compliance checks combined with strict penalties for violators, has been shown to enhance vendor compliance (Cummings et al., 1998; Ma et al., 2001; Preusser et al., 1994; Rigotti et al, 1997; Scribner & Cohen, 2001). For example, enforcement activities by Canada's Federal Tobacco Control Strategy (FTCS) have resulted in the maintenance of a minimum (80%) threshold level of retailer compliance with youth-access-to-tobacco regulations for two consecutive years (Health Canada Tobacco Control Program, 2005, 2006). It is nevertheless noteworthy that the effects of enforcement checks are temporary, and the common practice of conducting enforcement checks annually or intermittently is not sufficient to decrease illegal sales of

restricted merchandise (Wagenaar et al., 2005). The results of this study lend support to this claim; even with the first wave of publicized enforcement activities coinciding with the data collection period, over one-third of the vendors surveyed did not comply with the province's youth access legislation and policies. A regular schedule of compliance checks, implemented by the provincial regulatory agencies, might further enhance vendor compliance with age identification policies for lottery and alcohol products.

A third component of a successful compliance program is merchant education and training. While Loto-Québec does distribute print material to all license holders outlining the corporation's guidelines and policies regarding the sale of lottery tickets to minors, no formal training program is offered; training of managers or employees is left up to the discretion of business owners or parent corporations, and the quality or content of this training is unknown. To improve vendor compliance with youth access legislation and policies, provincial regulatory agencies should consider implementing compulsory education and training programs for business owners, managers, and salesclerks at no cost (Paschall et al., 2007). At a minimum, education and training programs must cover the following topics: (a) consequences of problem gambling for youth; (b) current youth access statutes and regulations; (c) cues for identifying minors; and (d) guidelines for reliable checking of identification cards. A good example of a comprehensive training curriculum is the State of Vermont Department Of Liquor Control (2006) Training Program for Common Carriers. This compulsory training course informs licensees/permit holders and their employees about the state's alcohol and tobacco laws and regulations. It also teaches trainees techniques for detecting underage customers, such as monitoring suspicious behaviour (e.g., hiding or trying to act invisible, arguing about age) and analyzing word choice during the transaction (e.g., using "dude" to address the vendor). The

program also provides clear instructions for verifying the authenticity and ownership of identity cards. Some important suggestions include:

- 1. Checking the photograph to establish that the identity card belongs to the customer.
- 2. Checking the expiration date, and refusing an identity card if it is no longer valid.
- 3. Reading the identification card to verify the date of birth.
- 4. Watching the customer's facial expressions and eye movements when carding.
- 5. Asking questions about [postal] code or date of birth to determine if the customer is using a borrowed identification card.

Limitation and Future Directions

Although this study yielded some interesting findings regarding youth access to agerestricted products, these should be considered in light of certain limitations. First and foremost, the sample of convenience stores included in this study may not be representative of all licensed retail outlets in Québec, much less Canada or other jurisdictions. Reported levels of vendor compliance with youth access laws have been shown to vary widely by geographic region (Clark et al., 2000; Health Canada Tobacco Control Program, 2004, 2005, 2006). Differences in provincial and community enforcement activities likely account for some of this variability. Rates of vendor compliance also diverge significantly by the type of outlet surveyed; sales to underage purchasers are reported to be highest at convenience stores (Paschall et al., 2007; Radecki & Zdunich, 1993). Thus, the generalizability of this study's findings is restricted. If this study were to be replicated with a sample that included grocery stores, perhaps the rates of vendor compliance would be higher. Future studies might usefully include sampling from different regions of the province (e.g., Estrie, Lanaudière, Laurentides, Laval, Montérégie, Outaouais), as well as different outlet types. A second limitation of the present study was the omission of the category of store ownership as an explanatory variable. A small number of studies in the compliance literature have reported that independently-owned ("mom-and-pop") stores have lower rates of compliance with youth-access-to-tobacco laws than larger chains or franchises (Hanson et al., 2000; Weinbaum et al., 1999). A significantly higher proportion of the younger female vendors surveyed in this study were employed at chain and/or franchise outlets, and significant effects of category of store ownership on vendor compliance emerged during preliminary cross-tabulation analyses. While it was beyond the scope of the current study, it would be important to know if the inclusion of a store ownership category variable in this study's predictive model would attenuate the association between the gender and age group of the vendor and retailer compliance.

Historically, compliance research has focused on what situational and individual-level factors play a role in vendor compliance with youth access statutes. However, compliance checks occur in the field rather than in a laboratory; it is therefore difficult to draw firm conclusions about causal relationships between these factors and vendors' decision to comply. In this study, gender and age group factors emerged as statistically significant predictors of requests for age identification and sale refusal. However, it may be that these variables have a small, indirect influence on vendor's actual decision-making process. Indeed, experimental studies have shown that time pressure, physical attractiveness of the purchaser, and age-cuing stimuli (purchaser's pitch and tone of voice, style, of dress, signs of nervousness) also play a role in vendors' decision to request proof-of-age from young-looking customers (McCall, 1993, 1994, 1997a, 1997b; McCall et al., 2002). Despite efforts to control for the physical attractiveness and style of dress of the purchasers, it is possible that these other extraneous variables may have confounded the

results of this study. More rigorous, experimental research is therefore needed to better understand the effects that individual level variables have upon vendor's decision to request age identification from or refuse the sale of an age restricted product to underage customers.

References

Act Respecting the Société des Loteries du Québec, R.S.Q. 1999, c.S-13.1, s.25(1)-27.

- Allison, P. D. (1999). Logisitc Regression Using the SAS System: Theory and Applications. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Altman, D. G., Linzer, J., Kropp, R., Descheemaeker, N., Feighery, E., & Fortmann, S. P.
 (1992). Policy alternatives for reducing tobacco sales to minors: Results from a national survey of retail chain and franchise stores. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, 13, 318-331.
- Azmier, J. J. (2005, June). *Gambling in Canada 2005: Statistics and context*. Retrieved from http://www.cwf.ca/V2/files/GamblingInCanada.pdf
- Barmaki, R., & Zangeneh, M. (2007). Canadian dream, capitalism, and the State: Structural conditions of youth gambling in Canada. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink.com/content/m6523g221v133533/ fulltext.pdf
- Blaszczynski, A. (1994). Criminal offences in pathological gamblers. *Psychiatry, Psychology* and Law, 1, 129-138.
- Bourgeois, M. (1989). Lottery gambling and the Canadian Criminal Code. In C. S. Campbell &
 J. Lowman (Eds.), *Gambling in Canada: Golden goose or Trojan horse? A report from the first national symposium on lotteries and gambling, May 1988* (pp. 115-125).
 Burnaby, BC: School of Criminology, Simon Fraser University.
- Brenner, R., & Brenner, G. A. (1990). *Gambling and speculation: A theory, a history, and a future of some human decisions*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Campbell, C. S., Hartnagel, T. F., & Smith, G. J. (2005). *The legalization of gambling in Canada*. Ottawa: Law Commission of Canada.

- Campbell, C. S., & Smith, G. J. (1998). Canadian gambling: Trends and public policy issues. Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 556, 22-35.
- Campbell, C. S., & Smith, G. J. (2003). Gambling in Canada, from vice to disease to responsibility: A negotiated history. *Canadian Bulletin of Medical History*, 20, 121-149.
- Chevalier, S., Deguire, A.-É., Gupta, R., & Derevensky, J. (2003). Jeux de hazard et d'argent. In
 B. Perron & J. Loiselle (Eds.), Où en sont les jeunes face au tabac, à l'alcool, aux
 drogues et au jeu? Enquête québécoise sur le tabagisme chez les élèves du secondaire,
 2002 (pp. 175-203). Québec: Institut de la statistique du Québec.
- Chevalier, S., Martin, I., Gupta, R., & Derevensky, J. (2005). Jeux de hasard et d'argent. In G.
 Dubé (Ed.), Enquête québécoise sur le tabac, l'alcool, la drogue et le jeu chez les élèves du secondaire, 2004. Quoi de neuf depuis 2002? (pp. 131-146). Québec: Institut de la statistique du Québec.
- Clark, P. I., Natanblut, S. L., Schmitt, C. L., Wolters, C., & Iachan, R. (2000). Factors associated with tobacco sales to minors: Lessons learned from the FDA compliance checks. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 284, 729-734.
- Côté, C. (2004, June 14). Communiqué aux titulaires de permis d'épicerie: Interdiction de vendre l'alcool aux mineurs Juin 2004 [Press release]. Retrieved from Régie des Alcools, des Courses, et des Jeux: http://www.racj.gouv.qc.ca/index.php?id=65
- Côté, M.-A., Vitaro, F., & Ladouceur, R. (2003). Attitudes, connaissances et comportments des parents québécois en regard de la pratique des jeux de hasard et d'argent chez les jeunes. *Canadian Psychology / Psychologie Canadienne*, 44, 152-161.

Covell, J. (2006). Alimentation Couche-Tard Inc. *International Directory of Company Histories*, 77. Retrieved January 28, 2008, from http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_gx5202/ is_2006/ai_n19123584

Cummings, K. M., Hyland, A., Saunders-Martin, T., Perla, J., Coppola, P. R., & Pechacek, T. F.
 (1998). Evaluation of an enforcement program to reduce tobacco sales to minors.
 American Journal of Public Health, 88, 932-936.

DeMaris, A. (1992). Logit modeling: Practical applications. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

- Derevensky, J. L., & Gillespie, M. (2005). Keynote address: Gambling in Canada [Electronic version]. eCommunity: International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction, 3, 3-14. Retrieved from http://www.ecommunity-journal.com/pdf/v3i1a01.pdf
- Derevensky, J. L., & Gupta, R. (2004). Adolescents with gambling problems: A synopsis of our current knowledge. *e-Gambling: The Electronic Journal of Gambling Issues*, 10, 119-140. Retrieved from http://www.camh.net/egambling/issue10/ejgi_10_derevensky_gupta .html
- Derevensky, J. L., Gupta, R., Dickson, L., & Deguire, A.-E. (2004). Prevention efforts towards reducing gambling problems. In J. L. Derevensky and R. Gupta (Eds.), *Gambling problems in youth: Theoretical and applied perspectives* (pp. 211-230). New York: Klewer Academic / Plenum Publishers.
- Derevensky, J. L., Gupta, R., Messerlian, C., & Gillespie, M. (2004). Youth gambling problems: A need for responsible social policy. In J. L. Derevensky and R. Gupta (Eds.), *Gambling problems in youth: Theoretical and applied perspectives* (pp. 231-252). New York: Klewer Academic / Plenum Publishers.

- DiFranza, J. R. (2005). Best practices for enforcing state laws prohibiting the sale of tobacco to minors. *Journal of Public Health Management Practice*, 11, 559-565.
- DiFranza, J. R., Savageau, J. A., & Aisquith, B. F. (1996). Youth access to tobacco: The effects of age, gender, vending machine locks, and "It's the Law" programs. *American Journal of Public Health*, 86, 221-224.
- Dovell, R. A., Mowat, D. L., Dorland, J., & Lam, M. (1998). Tobacco access to youth: Beliefs and attitudes of retailers. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 89, 17-21.
- Dunkley, J. (1985). *Gambling: A social and moral problem in France, 1685-1792.* Oxford: The Voltaire Foundation.
- Erickson, A. D., Woodruff, S. I., Wildey, M. B., & Kenney, E. (1993). A baseline assessment of cigarette sales to minors in San Diego, California. *Journal of Community Health*, 18, 213-224.
- Fauteux, M. (2007, October 10). Loto-Québec: Les marchands exigent plus de consideration. La Tribune. Retrieved from http://www.cyberpresse.ca/article/20071010/ CPTRIBUNE/ 710100904/5167/ CPACTUALITES
- Felsher, J. R., Derevensky, J. L., & Gupta, R. (2003). Parental influences and social modelling of youth lottery participation. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 13, 361-377.
- Felsher, J. R., Derevensky, J. L., & Gupta, R. (2004). Lottery playing amongst youth:Implications for prevention and social policy. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 20, 127-153.
- Forster, J. L., Hourigan, M., & McGovern, P. (1992). Availability of cigarettes to underage youth in three communities. *Preventive Medicine*, 21, 320-328.

- Forster, J. L., McGovern, P. G., Wagenaar, A. C., Wolfson, M., Perry, C. L., & Anstine, P. S. (1994). The ability of young people to purchase alcohol without age identification in Northwestern Minnesota, USA. *Addiction*, 89, 699-705.
- Forster, J. L., Murray, D. M., Wolfson, M., Wagenaar, A. C. (1995). Commercial availability of alcohol to young people. Results of alcohol purchase attempts. *Preventive Medicine*, 24, 342-347.
- Forster, J. L., & Wolfson, M. (1998). Youth access to tobacco: Policies and politics. Annual Review of Public Health, 19, 203-235.
- Griffiths, M. D. (1989). Gambling in children and adolescents. *Journal of Gambling Behaviour*, 5, 66-83.
- Griffiths, M. D. (1995). The role of subjective mood states in the maintenance of fruit machine gambling behaviour. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *11*, 123-135.
- Gupta, R., & Derevensky, J. (1997). Familial and social influences on juvenile gambling. Journal of Gambling Studies, 13, 179-192.
- Gupta, R., & Derevensky, J. L. (1998). Adolescent gambling behavior: A prevalence study and examination of correlates associated with problem gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 14, 319-345.
- Hanson, K., Hatsukami, D., Boyle, R., & Brown, S. (2000). Minors' access to snuff: Purchase outcomes at corporate owned and independently owned convenience stores. *Addictive Behaviors*, 25, 289-293.
- Hardoon, K., Derevensky, J., & Gupta, R. (2002). An examination of the influence of familial, emotional, conduct and cognitive problems, and hyperactivity upon youth risk-taking

behavior and adolescent gambling problems. Guelph, ON: Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre.

- Health Canada Tobacco Control Program. (2004). Evaluation of retailers' behaviour towards certain youth access-to-tobacco restrictions: Final report findings – 2003. Ottawa: ACNielsen.
- Health Canada Tobacco Control Program. (2005). Evaluation of retailers' behaviour towards certain youth access-to-tobacco restrictions: Final report findings – 2004. Ottawa: The Corporate Research Group Ltd.
- Health Canada Tobacco Control Program. (2006). Evaluation of retailers' behaviour towards certain youth access-to-tobacco restrictions: Final report findings – 2005. Ottawa: The Corporate Research Group Ltd.
- Jacobs, D. F. (2000). Juvenile gambling in North America: An analysis of long term trends and future prospects. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *16*, 119-151.
- Jacobs, D. F. (2004). Youth gambling in North America: Long-term trends and future prospects. In J. L. Derevensky and R. Gupta (Eds.), *Gambling problems in youth: Theoretical and applied perspectives* (pp. 1-24). New York: Klewer Academic / Plenum Publishers.
- Kennedy, J. J. (1992). Analyzing qualitative data: Log-linear analysis for behavioral research (2nd ed.). New York: Praeger.
- Klonoff, E. A., & Landrine, H. (2004). Predicting youth access to tobacco: The role of youth versus store-clerk behavior and issues of ecological validity. *Health Psychology*, 23, 517-524.

- Klonoff, E. A., Landrine, H., & Alcaraz, R. (1997). An experimental analysis of sociocultural variables in sales of cigarettes to minors. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87, 823-826.
 - Korn, D. A. (2000). Expansion of gambling in Canada: Implications for health and social policy. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 163, 61-64.
 - Korn, D. A., Gibbins, R., & Azmier, J. (2003). Framing public policy towards a public health paradigm for gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *19*, 235-256.
 - Lacoursière, A. (2007, July 11). Un 6/49! Vos cartes, S.V.P. *La Presse*. Retrieved from http://www.cyberpresse.ca/article/20070711/ CPACTUALITES/707110489/ 5050/CPPRESSE
 - Ladouceur, R., Boudreault, N., Jacques, C., & Vitaro, F. (1999). Pathological gambling and related problems among adolescents. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, *8*, 55-68.
 - Ladouceur, R., & Mireault, C. (1988). Gambling behaviors among high school students in the Quebec area. *Journal of Gambling Behavior*, *4*, 3-12.
 - Ladouceur, R., Vitaro, F., & Côté, M.-A. (2001). Parents' attitudes, knowledge, and behavior toward youth gambling: A five-year follow-up. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 17, 101-116.
 - Landrine, H., Klonoff, E. A., & Alcaraz, R. (1996). Asking age and identification may decrease minors' access to tobacco. *Preventive Medicine*, 25, 301-306.
 - Landrine, H., Klonoff, E. A., & Alcaraz, R. (1997). Racial discrimination in minors' access to tobacco. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 23, 135-147.

- Landrine, H., Klonoff, E. A., Campbell, R., & Reina-Patton, A. (2000). Sociocultural variables in youth access to tobacco: Replication 5 years later. *Preventive Medicine*, *30*, 433-437.
- Landrine, H., Klonoff, E. A., & Fritz, J. M. (1994). Preventing cigarette sales to minors: The need for contextual, sociocultural analysis. *Preventive Medicine*, 23, 322-327.
- Levinson, A. H., Hendershott, S., & Byers, T. E. (2002). The ID effect on youth access to cigarettes. *Tobacco Control*, *11*, 296-299. doi:10.1136/tc.11.4.296
- Levy, D. T., & Friend, K. B. (2000). A simulation model of tobacco youth access policies. Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law, 25, 1023-1050.
- Liao, T. F. (1994). Interpreting probability models: Logit, probit, and other generalized models. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Loto-Québec (2005, October). For a responsible contribution: 2004-2005 social responsibility review. Retrieved from http://www.loto-quebec.com/corporatif/pdf/ bilan eng v.pdf#page=34
- Loto-Québec (2007, June). New hand new challenges: 2007 annual report. Retrieved from http://loto-quebec.com/corporatif/pdf/rapport-annuel_en.pdf#page=1
- Ma, G. X., Shive, S., & Tracy, M. (2001). The effects of licensing and inspection enforcement to reduce tobacco sales to minors in Greater Philadelphia, 1994-1998. *Addictive Behaviors*, 26, 677-687.
- Mandal, V. P., & Vander Doelen, C. (1999). *Chasing lightning: Gambling in Canada*. Toronto: United Church Publishing House.
- Martin, I., Gupta, R., & Derevensky, J. (2007). Participation aux jeux de hasard et d'argent. In G. Dubé, R. Tremblay, I. Traoré, & I. Martin (Eds.), *Enquête québécoise sur le tabac*,

l'alcool, la drogue et le jeu chez les élèves du secondaire, 2006 (pp. 125-144). Québec: Institut de la statistique du Québec.

- McCall, M. (1993). Accuracy in detecting potential underage drinkers: The role of contextual effects in proofing. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 23, 875-890.
- McCall, M. (1994). Decision theory and the sale of alcohol. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 24, 1593-1611.
- McCall, M. (1997a). Physical attractiveness and access to alcohol: What is beautiful does not get carded. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 27, 453-462.
- McCall, M. (1997b). The effects of physical attractiveness on gaining access to alcohol: when social policy meets social decision making. *Addiction*, *92*, 597-600.
- McCall, M., Trombetta, J., & Nattrass, K. (2002). Limiting underage alcohol purchases: An application of the consumer decision model. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 17, 19-29.
- McDermott, S. R., Scott, K. L., & Frintner, M. P. (1998). Accessibility of cigarettes to minors in suburban Cook County, Illinois. *Journal of Community Health*, 23, 153-160.

Menard, S. (1995). Applied logistic regression analysis. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Merrill, R. M., Stanford, E. J., Lindsay, G. B., & Neiger, B. L. (2000). The relationship of perceived age and sales of tobacco and alcohol to underage customers. *Journal of Community Health*, 25, 401-410.

Moore, L. (2000, May 4). Dealer's choice. The Montreal Gazette, pp. A1-A2.

- Moore, L. (2001, August 6). Teen gamble a sure bet. The Montreal Gazette, pp. A1-A2.
- Morton, S. (2003). *At odds: Gambling and Canadians, 1919-1969*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

- O'Grady, B., Asbridge, M., & Abernathy, T. (1999). Analysis of factors related to illegal sales to young people in Ontario. *Tobacco Control*, 8, 301-305. Retrieved from http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/cgi/content/full/8/3/301
- O'Grady, B., Asbridge, M., & Abernathy, T. (2000). Illegal tobacco sales to youth: A view from rational choice theory. *Canadian Journal of Criminology*, *42*, 1-20.
- Osborne, J. A., & Campbell, C. S. (1989). Recent amendments to Canadian lottery and gaming laws: The transfer of power from federal to provincial governments. In C. S. Campbell & J. Lowman (Eds.), *Gambling in Canada: Golden goose or Trojan horse? A report from the first national symposium on lotteries and gambling, May 1988* (pp. 127-147).
 Burnaby, BC: School of Criminology, Simon Fraser University.
- Paschall, M. J., Grube, J. W., Black, C., Flewelling, R. L., Ringwalt, C. L., & Biglan, A. (2007). Alcohol outlet characteristics and alcohol sales to youth: Results of alcohol purchase surveys in 45 Oregon communities. *Prevention Science*, 8, 153-159.
- Poulin, C. (2000). Problem gambling among adolescent students in the Atlantic provinces of Canada. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 16, 53-78.
- Preusser, D. F., Williams, A. F., & Weinstein, H. B. (1994). Policing underage alcohol sales. Journal of Safety Research, 25(3), 127-133.
- Radecki, T. E., & Zdunich, C. D. (1993). Tobacco sales to minors in 97 US and Canadian communities. *Tobacco Control*, 2, 300-305. doi:10.1136/tc.2.4.300
- Resnick, M. D., Bearman, P. S., Blum, R. W., Bauman, K. E., Haris, K. M., Jones, J., et al. (1997). Protecting adolescents from harm: Findings from the National Longitudinal Study on Adolescent Health. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 278, 823-832.

- Rigotti, N. A., DiFranza, J. R., Chang, Y., Tisdale, T., Kemp, B., & Singer, D. E. (1997). The effect of enforcing tobacco-sales laws on adolescents' access to tobacco and smoking behavior. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *337*, 1044-1051.
- Robinson, R. G. (1983). *The history of the law of gaming in Canada* (Research Paper No. 1). Edmonton, AB: Royal Canadian Mounted Police.
- Salter, M. A. (1979). Games, goods, and gods: An analysis of Iroquoian gambling. *Canadian* Journal of Applied Sport Sciences, 4, 160-164.
- Schmitt, C. L. (2002). The effect of decision heuristics and ethnicity on cigarette sales to minor girls. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 62 (09), 4277B. (UMI No. 3026971).
- Scribner, R., & Cohen, D. (2001). The effect of enforcement on merchant compliance with the minimum legal drinking age law. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *31*, 857-866.
- Shaffer, H. J., Hall, M. N., & Vander Bilt, J. (1999). Estimating the prevalence of disordered gambling behavior in the Unites States and Canada: A research synthesis. *American Journal of Public Health*, 89, 1369-1376.
- Shaffer, H. J., & Zinberg, N. E. (1994). The emergence of youthful addiction: The prevalence of underage lottery use and the impact of gambling (Rep. No. 011394 100). Cambridge, MA: Massachusetts Council in Compulsive Gambling.
- Spear, L. P. (2000). The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. *Neuroscience and Behavioral Reviews*, 24, 417-463.
- State of Vermont Department of Liquor Control (2006). *Training program for common carriers* [Brochure]. Retrieved from http://liquorcontrol.vermont.gov/education/commoncarriers .pdf

Stinchfield, R. (2004). Demographic, psychosocial, and behavioral factors associated with youth gambling and problem gambling. In J. L. Derevensky and R. Gupta (Eds.), *Gambling problems in youth: Theoretical and applied perspectives* (pp. 27-39). New York: Klewer Academic / Plenum Publishers.

- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2001). Using multivariate statistics (4th ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Thompson, W. N. (2001). *Gambling in America: An encyclopedia of history, issues, and society*. Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO.
- Voorhees, C. C., Swank, R. T., Stillman, F. A., Harris, D. X., Watson, H. W., & Becker, D. M. (1997). Cigarette sales to African-American and White minors in low-income areas of Baltimore. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87, 652-654.
- Wagenaar, A. C., Toomey, T. L., & Erickson, D. J. (2005). Preventing youth access to alcohol: Outcomes from a multi-community time-series trial. *Addiction*, *100*, 335-345.
- Wamsley, K. B. (1998). State formation and institutionalized racism: Gambling laws in nineteenth and early twentieth century Canada. *Sport History Review*, *29*, 77-85.
- Wardman, D., el-Guebaly, N., & Hodgins, D. (2001). Problem and pathological gambling in North American aboriginal populations: A review of the empirical literature. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 17, 81-100.
- Weinbaum, Z., Quinn, V., Rogers, T., & Roeseler, A. (1999). Store tobacco policies: A survey of store managers, California, 1996-1997. *Tobacco Control*, 8, 306-310. Retrieved from http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/cgi/content/full/8/3/306
- Westphal, J. R., Rush, J. A., Stevens, L., & Johnson, L. J. (2000). Gambling behavior of Louisiana students in grades 6 through 12. *Psychiatric Services*, 51, 96-99.

- Willner, P., Hart, K., Binmore, J., Cavendish, M., & Dunphy, E. (2000). Alcohol sales to underage adolescents: An unobtrusive observational field study and evaluation of a police intervention. *Addiction*, 95, 1373-1388.
- Willner, P., & Rowe, G. (2001). Alcohol servers' estimates of young people's ages. *Drugs: Education, Prevention, and Policy*, 8, 375-383.
- Winters, K. C., & Anderson, N. (2000). Gambling involvement and drug use among adolescents. Journal of Gambling Studies, 16, 175-198.
- Wynne, H. J., Smith, G. J., & Jacobs, D. F. (1996). Adolescent gambling and problem gambling in Alberta: Final report. Edmonton, AB: Wynne Resources Ltd.
- Yorke, W. M. (2003). Gambling in Canada: History, economics, and public health. In H. J. Shaffer, M. N. Hall, J. Vander Bilt, & E. George (Eds.), *Futures at stake: Youth, gambling, and society* (pp. 49-62). Reno: University of Nevada Press.

Appendix A

Compliance Check Survey Form

Note. This study is part of a larger study funded by the Fonds québécois de la recherche sur la société et la culture (FQRSC). As such, the survey form includes other measures not analyzed in this research.





YGI RETAILER COMPLIANCE CHECK FORM (Please check answer to indicate response)

Purchaser ID no.:	
Store name:	 - <u></u>
Banner (if applicable):	
Store address:	

PURCHASER CHARACTERISTICS	
Sex: 1) Male 🔲 2) Female 🗖	
Age: 1) 15 years old 2) 16 years old 3) 17 years old	
Ethnicity: 1) Caucasian (White) 2) Black 3) Native/Inuit 4) Hispanic/Latino 5) East Indian/Pakistani 6) Asian 7) Arabic/Middle Eastern 8) Other	C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C

STORE CHARACTERISTICS		
Store type: 1) Chain/Franchise 2) Independently-o		
Service type for <i>beer</i> purchase ((if applicable):	1) Self-service□2) Clerk-assisted (i.e., locked)□
Number of cash registers:	1) One 2) Two 3) Three 4) Other	□ □ (specify)
Number of customers in line afte	er purchaser (v	witnesses):
Other employees witnessed pure	chase attempt	?? 1) Yes ☐ 2) No □
If yes, was it: 1) Another (2) A manag 3) Don't kno	er	
	/e ask for ID h 8 +"/"18 ans ef	□ nere"/"Ici, on carte" □ t plus" □ (specify)
CLERK CHARACTERISTICS		
Sex: 1) Male 2) Female		
Clerk's estimated age:	yrs. old	Don't know: 1) < 20 yrs. old □ 2) 20 – 35 yrs. old □ 3) > 35 yrs. old □
Ethnicity: 1) Caucasian 2) Black 3) Native/Inuit 4) Hispanic/Latino 5) East Indian/Pak 6) Asian 7) Arabic/Middle E 8) Don't know 9) Other	istani astern	(specify)

PURCHASE		<u> 28</u>		
Date of purc	hase:		 	
Time of day:	: 1) Morning (9am – 2) Noon/Lunch (12 3) Afternoon (1pm 4) Evening (After 6	2pm – 1pm) – 6pm)		
Day of week	 x: 1) Monday 2) Tuesday 3) Wednesday 4) Thursday 5) Friday 6) Saturday 7) Sunday 			

OUTCOME					
Age identification a) Yes 2) No			
				Attempted	<u>Successful</u>
Purchase results:	1) Insta 2) Beer 3) Insta	-	v ticket		

ADDITIONAL NOTES/COMMENTS	
Was supervisory staff (owner, manager) present at time of purchase?	1) Yes □ 2) No □
Were any questions asked by clerk when making purchase attempt?	1) Yes □ 2) No □
Specify	
Were any comments made by clerk when making purchase attempt?	1) Yes □ 2) No □
Specify	
Other notes/comments:	
Observer:	
Signature:	
Date:	
CANADIAN CANADIAN	COR
Blue Kokande Budweinen Eurorige	

Appendix B

Ethics Certificate

Note. This study is part of a larger study funded by the Fonds québécois de la recherche sur la société et la culture (FQRSC). As such, ethics approval was originally obtained by Dr. Isabelle Martin, to whom funding was granted.

Retailer Compliance 92

Appendix C

Informed Consent Forms

International Centre for Youth Gambling Problems and High-Risk Behaviors



🐯 McGill

Title of research project : Retailer compliance with youth access regulatory policies: Are clerks more inclined to request age identification for the sale of alcohol versus lottery tickets?

Researchers:

Ms. Isabelle Martin, Ph.D., researcher
Ms. Rina Gupta, Ph.D., co-director
Mr. Jeffrey Derevensky, Ph. D, co-director
Ms. Renee St-Pierre, B.A., Master's candidate
International Centre for Youth Gambling Problems and High-Risk Behaviors

Primary researcher: Ms. Isabelle Martin Financed by: Quebec research fund on society and culture

Introduction

It is important to carefully read and understand this consent form for the research we are asking your child to participate in. Take the time you need in order to make your decision. Do not hesitate at any moment to ask any questions that you may have. Your child can decide at anytime to withdraw his/her participation in this project, without any form of reproach or consequence.

Project description

Your child is invited to participate in a project whose main objective is to determine whether the administrative measures (i.e., age identification requirements) put forth by Loto-Québec to prevent sales to minors are being adhered to by retailers, and under what conditions. This project is also designed to ascertain whether vendor behavior differs for the sale of lottery products and alcohol. We believe that a better understanding of retailers' compliance behavior may assist in the strengthening of existing measures, and could result in the development of new policies that continue to help protect minors.

Nature of participation

If your child decides to participate in this project, he/she will be asked to make purchase attempts at selected retail outlets. Under the supervision of an adult team leader, young-looking purchasers will be instructed to enter a store and purchase an assigned product: 1) instant lottery ticket; 2) large can of domestic beer; or 3) a combination of both. If your child is asked for ID, they will be instructed to indicate that they do not have ID with them. If permitted to purchase the products, they will do so; if not, they will politely leave the establishment without protest. Once the purchase attempt is complete, your child will be asked to exit the outlet, and return the purchased product to the team leader. Your child will be accompanied by an adult supervisor at all times, who will ensure his/her transportation to each retail outlet.

Possible risks and discomforts

The risks in participating in this study are minimal. The adult team leader(s) will be responsible for the safety of the purchasers while in the field. If, for any reason, a store appears unsafe, purchasers will not be allowed to leave the vehicle.

Dissemination of results

The results of this project will be disseminated in many different ways, such as during conferences or in journal articles and other forms of publications. Conferences will be given in diverse regions of Quebec in order to inform stakeholders and retailers of the results of the study. Under no circumstances will your child's name or identity appear anywhere.

Confidentiality

All of the information gathered for this research project will be treated in a confidential manner. In order to protect your child's identity, he/she will be assigned an identification number for coding purposes. The data and consent forms will only be available to the primary researchers. However, it is possible that we will be required to share this research dossier with McGill officials (Ethics Committee) or to government agencies, for internal and monitoring purposes.

Compensation

Your child will be paid an hourly wage (\$10/hour) to compensate him/her for his/her participation in this study.

Contact person

If you have any questions, comments or complaints, or if would like more information about this study, please contact Ms. Isabelle Martin at (514) 398-2244.

Freedom of participation and withdrawal

Your child's participation in this study is completely voluntary. Your child is therefore free to accept or not accept to participate, without needing to give a reason or risk being judged. Your child is also free to withdraw his/her participation at any moment.

Terms of consent

I have read and understood the content of this consent form. I had the opportunity to ask questions and they were answered to my satisfaction. I know that my child is free to participate in this study and is able to withdraw at any moment, by a verbal expression, without prejudice. I can certify that I was given enough time to make my decision.

Please check one of the following:

I agree to allow my son/daughter _______to participate in this research project. I understand that he/she is free to withdraw this consent and discontinue participation in this project at any time without further implications.

I do not agree to allow my son/daughter ______to participate in this research project.

Parent's Name _____ Date: _____

Parent's Signature

This form will be entered in our research dossier. This research study and consent form have been approved by McGill University's Ethics Committee.

International Centre for Youth Gambling Problems and High-Risk Behaviors





Title of research project : Retailer compliance with youth access regulatory policies: Are clerks more inclined to request age identification for the sale of alcohol versus lottery tickets?

Researchers: Ms. Isabelle Martin, Ph.D., researcher Ms. Rina Gupta, Ph.D., co-director Mr. Jeffrey Derevensky, Ph. D, co-director Ms. Renee St-Pierre, B.A., Master's candidate International Centre for Youth Gambling Problems and High-Risk Behaviors

Primary researcher: Ms. Isabelle Martin Financed by: Quebec research fund on society and culture

Introduction

It is important to carefully read and understand this consent form for the research we are asking you to participate in. Take the time you need in order to make your decision. Do not hesitate at any moment to ask any questions that you may have. You can decide at anytime to withdraw your participation in this project, without any form of reproach or consequence.

Project description

You are invited to participate in a project whose main objective is to determine whether the administrative measures (i.e., age identification requirements) put forth by Loto-Québec to prevent sales to minors are being adhered to by retailers, and under what conditions. This project is also designed to ascertain whether vendor behavior differs for the sale of lottery products and alcohol. We believe that a better understanding of retailers' compliance behavior may assist in the strengthening of existing measures, and could result in the development of new policies that continue to help protect minors.

Nature of participation

If you decide to participate in this project, you will be asked to make purchase attempts at selected retail outlets. Under the supervision of an adult team leader, young-looking purchasers will be instructed to enter a store and purchase an assigned product: 1) instant lottery ticket; 2) large can of domestic beer; or 3) a combination of both. If you are asked for ID, you will be instructed to state that you do not have ID with you. If permitted to purchase the products, you will do so; if not, you will politely leave the establishment without protest. Once the purchase attempt is complete, you will be asked to exit the outlet, and return the purchased product to the team leader. You will be accompanied by an adult supervisor at all times, who will ensure your transportation to each retail outlet.

Possible risks and discomforts

The risks in participating in this study are minimal. The adult team leader(s) will be responsible for the safety of the purchasers while in the field. If, for any reason, a store appears unsafe, purchasers will not be allowed to leave the vehicle.

Dissemination of results

The results of this project will be disseminated in many different ways, such as during conferences or in journal articles and other forms of publications. Conferences will be given in diverse regions of Quebec in order to inform stakeholders and retailers of the results of the study. Under no circumstances will your name or identity appear anywhere.

Confidentiality

All of the information gathered for this research project will be treated in a confidential manner. In order to protect your identity, you will be assigned an identification number for coding purposes. The data and consent forms will only be available to the primary researchers. However, it is possible that we will be required to share this research dossier with McGill officials (Ethics Committee) or to government agencies, for internal and monitoring purposes.

Compensation

You will be paid an hourly wage (\$10/hour) to compensate you for your participation in this study.

Contact person

If you have any questions, comments or complaints,	, or if would like more information about this study, plea	se
contact Ms. Isabelle Martin at (514) 398-2244.		

Freedom of participation and withdrawal

Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. You are therefore free to accept or not accept to participate, without needing to give a reason or risk being judged. You are also free to withdraw your participation at any moment.

Terms of consent

I have read and understood the content of this consent form. I had the opportunity to ask questions and they were answered to my satisfaction. I know that I am is free to participate in this study and I am able to withdraw at any moment, by a verbal expression, without prejudice. I can certify that I was given enough time to make my decision.

Please check one of the following:

I agree to participate in this research project. I understand that I am free to withdraw this consent and discontinue participation in this project at any time without further implications.

I do not agree participate in this research project.

Name	 Date:
Signature	

This form will be entered in our research dossier. This research study and consent form have been approved by McGill University's Ethics Committee.

Appendix D

Data Coding Scheme

Variable	Variable Description	Variable Coding
Product Type	Product selected for a purchase attempt.	0 = Beer 1 = Lottery ticket 2 = Combination of both (Reference variable)
Purchaser Gender	Purchaser's self-identified gender.	0 = Male 1 = Female
Vendor Gender	Gender of the vendor identified by the purchaser.	0 = Female 1 = Male
Vendor Age Group (Estimated)	Vendor age group based on the purchaser's estimation of age.	0 = Younger (< 30 years) $1 = \text{Older} (\ge 30 \text{ years})$
Request for Age Identification	First outcome variable. Measure of the vendor's request for a valid piece of identification from the purchaser at any time during a purchase attempt.	0 = No 1 = Yes
Purchase Outcome	Second outcome variable. Measure of the vendor's refusal of a sale to the purchaser.	0 = Yes (Refused) 1 = No (Not refused)